
Queensland Rail
Annual and Financial Report 2016-17



Page 2  |  Queensland Rail Annual and Financial Report 2016-17

This is the consolidated Annual and Financial Report 2016-17 (“the 

report”) of Queensland Rail (ABN 68 598 268 528) and its subsidiaries, 

Queensland Rail Limited (ABN 71 132 181 090) (QRL) and On Track 

Insurance Pty Ltd (ABN 18 095 032 670) (OTI). Queensland Rail is a 

statutory authority established under the Queensland Rail Transit Authority 

Act 2013 (Qld) (“QRTA Act”) and is a statutory body for the purposes of the 

Financial Accountability Act 2009 (Qld) and the Statutory Bodies Financial 

Arrangements Act 1982 (Qld). 

Queensland Rail’s functions are detailed in Section 9 of the QRTA Act. 

Queensland Rail discharges its statutory functions through its wholly owned 

subsidiary QRL. QRL does not employ any personnel, but owns all non-

employee related assets and contracts. It performs the role of rail transport 

operator under the Transport (Rail Safety) Act 2010 (Qld). 

OTI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of QRL. It provides insurance cover for 

claims on Queensland Rail, QRL and the Aurizon group of companies in 

respect of events up until 30 June 2010.

Unless the context otherwise requires, Queensland Rail together with its 

subsidiaries QRL and OTI, are collectively referred to as “Queensland Rail” for 

the purposes of the report. A general description of the nature of Queensland 

Rail’s operations and principal activities is included in the report.

This report is available, along with other useful resources, via the Queensland 

Rail website: queenslandrail.com.au

For further information on Queensland Rail:

Phone:  13 16 17

Mail:  GPO Box 1429, Brisbane, 

   Queensland, 4001

Registered Offi  ce
Queensland Rail

Level 14, Rail Centre 1

305 Edward Street

Brisbane, Queensland, 4000

Queensland Rail ABN 68 598 268 528

Translation and interpreting assistance
Queensland Rail is committed to providing accessible services to 

Queenslanders from all culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.

If you have diffi  culty in understanding the report, please contact Queensland 

Rail on 13 16 17 and we will arrange an interpreter to share the report with 

you.

Copyright © Queensland Rail Limited 2017. 

Disclaimer
While all care has been taken in preparing the report, Queensland Rail 

accepts no responsibility for decisions or actions taken as a result of any 

data, information, statement or advice, expressed, implied or contained 

in this report. Queensland Rail is committed to minimising the impact on 

the environment by printing a limited numbers of copies of this report. An 

electronic version of this report is available at 

queenslandrail.com.au

General information
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305 Edward Street

GPO Box 1429

Brisbane QLD 4001

T 07 3072 0565

F 07 3072 0090

queenslandrail.com.au

The Honourable Jackie Trad MP

Deputy Premier

Minister for Transport

Minister for Infrastructure and Planning 

Member for South Brisbane

Level 39, 1 William Street

BRISBANE QLD 4000

The Honourable Curtis Pitt MP

Treasurer

Minister for Trade and Investment

Member for Mulgrave

Level 38, 1 William Street

BRISBANE QLD 4000

Dear Deputy Premier and Treasurer

Queensland Rail Annual and Financial Report 2016-17
I am pleased to submit for presentation to Parliament the Queensland Rail Annual and Financial Report 2016-17.  

I certify that this annual report complies with:

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 (Qld) and the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 (Qld), 

the Queensland Rail Transit Authority Act 2013 (Qld) and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), and

• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual Report requirements for Queensland Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found on pages 47-48 of this annual report.  As outlined in the report, a dividend of 

$100.5 million was declared for the year ended 30 June 2017.

The Board unanimously endorses the Queensland Rail Annual and Financial Report 2016-17. 

Yours sincerely

Phillip Strachan
Chair

7 September 2017

Neil Scales

Director-General

Department of Transport and Main Roads

Jim Murphy

Under Treasurer

Queensland Treasury

Nick Easy

CEO

Queensland Rail

cc:
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About us
Queensland Rail’s purpose is to provide a safe, reliable, on-time, value for money and customer focussed 

rail service that benefi ts the community, supports industry and is integrated with the public transport 

system.

The organisation’s vision is to connect communities through a modern, 

world-class rail service.

Queensland Rail is a statutory authority established by the Queensland 

Government under the QRTA Act and is a statutory body for the purposes 

of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 (Qld) and the Statutory Bodies 

Financial Arrangements Act 1982 (Qld).

The QRTA Act sets out the functions of Queensland Rail, including:

• Management of railways

• Provision of rail transport services, including passenger services

• Construction and maintenance of railway infrastructure.

Queensland Rail’s network extends more than 6600 kilometres across the 

state. The business operates the following three core services across multiple 

customer markets:

• Citytrain

• Travel and Tourism

• Regional Network and Freight.

Queensland Rail’s Citytrain product primarily services the commuter 

passenger market in South East Queensland (SEQ), with more than 51 million 

passenger trips undertaken in the 2016-17 fi nancial year.

Queensland Rail also maintains and operates a small fl eet of heritage 

services which are used for special events and charters.

The regional commuter market and rail tourism markets are serviced by 

the Travel and Tourism products. This comprises eight services connecting 

regional communities across Queensland with other regional centres and 

the SEQ corner, and supports the Queensland tourism industry through the 

provision of unique rail tourism experiences.

Queensland Rail’s Regional Network and Freight product provides rail access 

for freight operators and other Queensland Rail supply chain customers, to 

enable the transport of resources and general freight across the state. 

Access to some of Queensland Rail’s network is regulated through an access 

undertaking given to the Queensland Competition Authority (QCA).

Queensland Rail employs more than 6500 people and has fi xed and other 

assets valued at approximately $7 billion.
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Queensland Rail Chair Phillip Strachan and 
Chief Executive Offi  cer Nick Easy.
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The 2016-17 fi nancial year has been 

challenging for Queensland Rail.

Queensland Rail is proud of its track 

record of service delivery throughout 

its 152 year history. However in the 

last year we know we have let our 

customers down. This is disappointing 

given the high level of performance 

that we pride ourselves on. 

In response to signifi cant operational 

issues which aff ected Citytrain services 

in late 2016 and caused disruptions 

for our customers, Queensland Rail has 

made good progress on the Response and Recovery Program. This program 

implements the recommendations from the 2017 Queensland Rail Train 

Crewing Practices Commission of Inquiry (COI) and the subsequent ‘Fixing 

the trains’ action plan. 

While delivery of the Response and Recovery Program was a critical focus 

for Queensland Rail in 2016-17 and beyond, there is no silver bullet or 

quick fi x to resolve these issues. The improvements we have made, and 

those we will continue to implement, will take time to result in increased 

services to customers. We are committed to restoring service reliability, being 

transparent about our progress in fi xing these issues and making sure we do 

everything possible to ensure it doesn’t happen again. 

The Board was pleased to secure the services of Nick Easy as Chief 

Executive Offi  cer (CEO), who commenced in April 2017. Nick has a wealth 

of experience, having previously led two other major statutory authorities, 

delivering major projects and managing stakeholders. He brings to the 

organisation strong leadership and a proven track record of leading 

operational and cultural change. 

Since joining the organisation, Nick has already made inroads in 

driving reform to modernise Queensland Rail and implementing the 

recommendations from the COI. He is a particularly passionate champion of 

customer service and we are confi dent that with his leadership Queensland 

Rail will achieve much needed improvement in this area and help restore 

public confi dence in the organisation.  

I’d like to thank Neil Scales for taking on the role of acting CEO at a time of 

major challenge for the business and for his leadership, alongside the rest 

of the Executive Leadership Team, during this period. I acknowledge Helen 

Gluer for her contribution to the organisation during her time as CEO.

I’d also like to acknowledge the hard work and dedication of previous Board 

members, including outgoing Chair Michael Klug, Interim Chair Nicole 

Hollows, Avairs Blums and John Mickel. This year we welcomed new Board 

members Stephen Cantwell, Jemina Dunn and Renaye Peters. Along with 

fellow directors Paul Wallis and David Marchant, the Board has a mix of skills 

and experience to drive performance improvements and cultural change 

across the organisation.  

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our responsible Ministers for 

their continued support in our endeavour to transform Queensland Rail into a 

world-class operator. Like them, we are committed to putting customers fi rst, 

doing everything we can to deliver a sustainable timetable, and to 

‘fi x our trains’.

Finally, the Board would like to recognise the many talented, hardworking 

employees who are committed to transforming Queensland Rail and 

restoring service to the high level of performance that we pride ourselves on, 

particularly during a period of intensive public scrutiny. It has been incredibly 

humbling to see so many of our employees working to keep our business 

moving and deliver services for the travelling public during this diffi  cult 

period. 

Moving forward we are investing heavily to build a resilient rail network while 

also looking to maximise revenue opportunities through our assets that 

directly or indirectly enhance the customer experience, promote patronage 

growth, and/or decrease costs. With a $685 million capital program in 

2017-18, we are focussed on modernising and maintaining our asset 

base through expansions throughout SEQ to improve capacity, upgrading 

rollingstock to address demand, safety and comfort, modernising stations 

to improve customer experience and accessibility, and carrying out regular 

below-rail infrastructure maintenance to ensure required levels of network 

performance. Our philosophy is the right project at the right time and cost, 

ensuring that the signifi cant capital expenditure is aligned with both the 

organisation’s strategy and Queensland Government’s broader strategic 

aims.

The Board and Executive Leadership Team have a clear vision for Queensland 

Rail – to connect communities through modern, world-class rail services. 

While we know there is signifi cant work ahead to achieve this, the Board 

is confi dent in the organisation’s ability to pull together in the face of the 

recent diffi  culties and work as one team which will see us through to the 

other side and return Queensland Rail to the high levels of performance we 

were known for and to deliver to our customers a safe and reliable service.

Phillip Strachan
Chair

Chair’s report
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When I became CEO of Queensland 

Rail in April this year, I knew I faced 

substantial challenges ahead. I joined 

an organisation which had faced 

months of operational disruptions 

and unrelenting public scrutiny on its 

processes and people. 

Having led other large-scale 

organisations through periods of 

major change, I could see the seeds for 

transformation existed, but the path to 

get there would take time. 

The fi rst thing I learnt about 

Queensland Rail is that its number one asset is not the rails or rollingstock, 

but its people. The dedicated employees – many who have worked tirelessly 

to deliver for customers in diffi  cult circumstances – are the people who will 

lead and are leading the transformation of rail in Queensland. I thank each 

and every one of them for their contribution. 

It is only right that I acknowledge and remember one of our people – Robert 

Knights – who was lost to the Queensland Rail family this year. 

Robert, a long-standing network employee, died following a tragic workplace 

accident at Petrie. My heartfelt sympathies are with Robert’s family and 

colleagues and I know that this sentiment is shared by every member of our 

organisation. 

The incident served as a stark reminder of the inherent danger involved 

in working on a heavy rail network. It has further strengthened the 

organisation’s resolve to ensure its people and customers remain safe and 

that safety is at the heart of all we do. 

I was appointed as Queensland Rail’s CEO with a mandate to fi x the trains 

and I am determined to lead the organisation through the changes needed 

to deliver reliable, excellent services and strengthen the focus on our 

customers. This is not something that can be done overnight and it will take 

time to make sure we get it right, but we are making progress. 

I am pleased to say the organisation continues to stabilise and has improved 

its performance in some key areas during 2017. We have already returned to 

a level of nearly 94 per cent peak on-time running, service cancellations have 

decreased signifi cantly, and customer feedback is improving. But we know we 

need to do more. 

The key to restoring Citytrain services to sustainable, reliable levels is 

getting more drivers and guards trained and operating on our network. 

We are working hard to recruit and train new drivers and guards as well as 

to modernise and accelerate our training programs. We look forward to 

ultimately improving our timetable over time to provide increased services on 

the Citytrain network. 

The other key area we need to improve is providing consistent and excellent 

customer service. One of the things I am passionate about is driving a culture 

that puts the customer at the centre of everything we do. At Queensland Rail 

whether it’s our quick response to network incidents or helping customers on 

their journey, it is clear there is a strong foundation on which to build a 

world-class commuter rail service.

We have commenced our Commuter Catch-Ups program, where our staff  

attend stations to talk with customers and hear their ideas and feedback. 

This complements our existing customer feedback channels and we are 

using this data to inform business decisions. I fi rmly believe that acting on 

customer feedback is critical to transforming our business into one that puts 

customers fi rst.  

Regionally, we have continued to connect communities across Queensland 

and used our network as an engine to support growth in local economies. 

In the North West, where 100 workers live locally between Townsville and 

Mount Isa, we are investing $25 million to replace sleepers to improve 

reliability, as well as $43 million to improve track stability and reliability for 

freight services. 

Our Travel network continued its proud tradition of taking Queenslanders 

and visitors to our state on holidays, to visit friends and families or to vital 

medical appointments. And in the far north, the Kuranda Scenic Railway 

(KSR) continued to grow in popularity, with over 450,000 customers enjoying 

the journey this fi nancial year. 

We were proud to be named Corporate Philanthropist of the Year at the 

annual Queensland Community Foundation (QCF) Philanthropist of the 

Year Awards in June. Queensland Rail has a strong tradition of supporting 

the communities in which we operate and we place great emphasis on our 

responsibility to be a good corporate citizen through a range of community 

awareness and philanthropic initiatives.

Looking ahead, we know that we have many signifi cant opportunities to 

modernise and transform rail in Queensland through the delivery of some 

exciting major projects. We are continuing to work collaboratively with the 

Department of Transport and Main Roads (DTMR) to ensure operational 

readiness for the  2018 Commonwealth Games, as well as a number of other 

projects including the integration of New Generation Rollingstock (NGR) into 

the Citytrain fl eet. The coming year will see progress towards introducing 

the new automatic train protection systems in SEQ to enhance safety and 

increase our capacity to deliver extra services. We will also continue our $212 

million program to upgrade stations to meet national accessibility standards.

The  COI laid bare challenging problems at the heart of Queensland Rail and 

part of tackling these is to strive to create an open culture where delivering 

for our customer is our absolute focus. We know that this cultural change is 

critical to future-proofi ng the railway and ensure eff ective service delivery 

going forward. We look forward to making signifi cant progress with these 

changes in the year ahead.

Finally, I would like to thank the Chair Phillip Strachan and the Board for its 

continued support and guidance. Along with our responsible Ministers, the 

Board has provided us with a very clear vision and I am pleased to see the 

progress that we have made toward fi xing the trains and moving Queensland 

Rail forward.

Nick Easy
Chief Executive Offi  cer

CEO’s report
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Queensland Rail welcomed 107 new drivers, 
85 are currently in training.
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Fixing the trains

In October 2016, there were disruptions to the Citytrain network that 

had a signifi cant impact on Queensland Rail customers. These disruptions 

were primarily the result of underlying train crew supply issues, which were 

exposed following the commissioning of the Redcliff e Peninsula line and 

implementation of a new timetable.

In response to these issues, the Queensland Government announced a 

‘Five Point Plan’ to restore Citytrain frontline services and delivery. Queensland 

Rail enacted a Response and Recovery Program to implement the plan. 

Following further timetable disruptions, the State Government established 

the COI to investigate the circumstances leading up to and associated 

with the disruptions to the Citytrain timetable, and assess and report 

on Queensland Rail’s recovery plan. Phillip Strachan was appointed as 

Commissioner.

On 31 January 2017, following 102 interviews and analysis of key data, 

the COI handed down its fi nal report to the Premier of Queensland. State 

Cabinet endorsed all 36 recommendations of Commissioner Strachan’s 300 

page report.

The COI outlined the problems that led to driver shortages from October 

2016. These problems were many years in the making, which means there is 

no quick fi x to restore full services. The report said that demand for train crew 

was rising as supply fell, and this asymmetry was fi rst identifi ed in 2013.

A range of factors were responsible for the driver shortage including:

• A preference to operate with a fi ve to 10 per cent undersupply of train 

crew and over-reliance on overtime

• Restrictions on the external recruitment of train crew

• A 12 month halt on driver training from February 2014

• Driver training taking 18 months on average.

The recommendations to address these issues included:

• Developing a fi ve year rolling monthly forecast of train crew demand and 

supply

• Moving from intermittent recruitment campaigns to ongoing recruitment

• Assessing the sustainability of the interim timetable to ensure reliable 

services could be provided while continuing to train the extra drivers and 

guards required

• Opening driver and guard positions to external applicants, including those 

with no previous experience 

• Allowing drivers to qualify more quickly on a single sector of track 

• Accelerating average train crew training from 18 months to nine.

The State Government established a new Citytrain Response Unit (CRU) 

to ensure Queensland Rail followed the program of sweeping reforms 

recommended by the COI.

Blueprint for a new, modern era

The COI strengthened Queensland Rail’s resolve to recover from the issues 

and deliver high-quality, customer focussed, reliable rail services.

On 6 February 2017, the State Government launched a response to the COI. 

The ‘Fixing the trains’ action plan provided clear direction and focus for the 

implementation of the Inquiry’s recommendations. 

‘Fixing the trains’ identifi ed three areas of immediate focus for Queensland 

Rail to restore public confi dence and get its services back on track, as well as a 

series of initiatives which put the customer fi rst. 

The three focus areas are:

• Restore reliable and on-time rail services

• Deliver excellence in customer service

• Provide cleaner, safer trains and stations.

Transforming into a world-class railway

Queensland Rail has made good progress in implementing the key 

initiatives under the ‘Fixing the trains’ action plan. Below are some of the key 

achievements up to 30 June 2017.

RESTORE RELIABLE AND ON-TIME RAIL SERVICES

Queensland Rail has accelerated the recruitment of drivers and guards, 

including: 

• Selecting 107 trainee drivers, with 85 drivers currently in training 

• Selecting 263 trainee guards, with 40 currently in training 

• Externally recruiting experienced drivers in the fi nal stages of testing 

• Hiring additional support staff  to allow train crew to focus on operating 

rail services and taking care of customers. 

Queensland Rail has also commenced delivering key initiatives to accelerate 

training including: 

• Partnered with GHD and the Centre for Excellence in Rail Training (CERT) 

to improve the driver and guard training program to modernise and 

accelerate training times, without compromising safety 

• Rolled out a new state-of-the-art train driving simulator giving recruits 

access to the latest technology 

• Trained 50 driver route mentors and 54 guard route mentors to increase 

the amount of on-track training 

• Doubled the capacity of driver and guard schools 

• Commenced recruitment of new tutor drivers and tutor guards. 
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DELIVER EXCELLENCE IN CUSTOMER SERVICE

• Appointed a new CEO, Nick Easy, to drive the shift to a customer-fi rst 

service

• Appointed Executive General Manager People and Culture, Louise Collins,  

to drive recruitment and cultural transformation

• Appointed Executive General Manager Citytrain, Nick King, to deliver high 

service standards in the provision of transport operation and customer 

services

• Launched the recruitment search for an Executive General Manager 

Customer Service and Innovation to drive a customer-centric culture 

across the organisation

• Commenced Commuter Catch-Ups to listen and engage with customers 

and gather valuable feedback, with 13 held between late April and 

30 June 2017

• Analysed detailed feedback from Commuter Catch- Ups, which will help 

guide network improvements and provide input for the Customer Charter 

• Engaged with our Customer Reference Group (CRG) to gain feedback on 

key issues and provide valuable input to support the drafting of the new 

Customer Charter 

• Developed the model for an online CRG to provide a new opportunity to 

interact with the commuting public and further build on interaction with 

rail advocates and customer representatives

• Supported the creation of a Customer Ambassador program with the 

rollout of technology allowing station staff  to access real-time operational 

updates on platforms, so they can more eff ectively help customers

• Boosted resources for real-time updates at Central station, as well 

as providing extra customer service leaders in peak periods, who 

work to assess station performance and identify customer focussed 

improvements

• Updated signage at stations for planned network disruptions to be 

simpler and more useful for customers 

• Boosted social media resources and presence to provide online help for 

customers seven days a week 

• Worked with TransLink to analyse options for improved data for 

customers, particularly during unplanned disruptions, as well as the 

provision of information to the Government’s Open Data program. 

PROVIDE CLEANER, SAFER TRAINS AND STATIONS 

• Commenced work on nearly $6 million in upgrades to 10 locations 

across the SEQ network, scheduled for completion by the end of 2017 to 

improve customer amenity

• Re-installed bins at six inner city stations

• Supported DTMR to ensure that the NGR trains enter passenger service as 

soon as possible, without compromising safety 

• Continued works on accessibility upgrades at Newmarket, Alderley, 

Dinmore and Graceville stations, as part of a $212 million program to 

meet national accessibility standards.

Ensuring a robust timetable 
One key recommendation of the COI report was to assess the current 

timetable to “ensure the provision of stable services and suffi  cient training 
capacity to facilitate the long-term return to desired service levels”. 

Throughout 2017 Queensland Rail undertook a stress testing process, along 

with developing a range of forecasting and modelling tools to ensure accurate 

and timely knowledge of train crew supply and demand in the medium to long 

term. 

Following rigorous stress testing, Queensland Rail analysis confi rmed the 

current 2017 timetable should remain in place. However, through this analysis, 

key stress points for the timetable over the next 12 months were identifi ed, 

including school holidays, the roll-out of the NGR during 2017 and the  

2018 Commonwealth Games. 

Queensland Rail is actively taking measures to eff ectively manage these stress 

periods. At least eight weeks out from each stress period, these contingency 

options will be refi ned and developed into a robust plan to maintain service 

reliability. 

Queensland Rail is continuing to implement the initiatives from the COI and 

the ‘Fixing the trains’ action plan and this will remain a key focus over the 

next year. The expectation is that it will return to a full service timetable in 

late 2018. The organisation is determined to make the changes needed for its 

transformation to a modern, customer focussed railway that is delivering for 

the people of Queensland.
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Summary of non-fi nancial measures

Unit 2016-17 Actual 2016-17 Target

Signal Passed At Danger per MTK - Operator Rate 1.93 1.83

Customer injuries per million passenger journeys Rate 9.88 9.88

Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate Rate 9.14 8.28

Safeworking Breaches as a Rail Infrastructure Manager Count 60.00 70.00

Unscheduled absence (Days/FTE) Rate 10.82 10.21

Operational cost per Revenue Train Kilometres - SEQ Above Rail $ 25.38 23.84

Operational cost per Revenue Train Kilometres - SEQ Below Rail $ 14.27 15.10

Operational cost per thousand GTK - Regional $ 13.70 13.14

Capital Plan Scheduling (Project Stage Gates On Time) % 23.90 80.00

On-time running - Citytrain 24/7 (adjusted for Force Majeure) % 94.52 95.00

Reliability - Citytrain 24/7 (adjusted for Force Majeure) % 99.34 99.50

Customer satisfaction - Citytrain (TransLink index) - Total - Quarterly Rate 69.32 70.00

Customer satisfaction - Traveltrain Rate 79.50 81.00

Operational performance
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Consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 June 2017

2016-17 Actual ($M)  2015-16 Actual ($M)

Revenue 1,881.2 1,920.7

Operating expenses (1,176.0) (1,100.9)

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 705.2 819.8

Depreciation and amortisation expense (380.4) (392.9)

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 324.8 426.9

Net fi nance costs (182.2) (190.7)

Income tax expense (42.1) (70.9)

Net profi t 100.5 165.3

The Queensland Rail consolidated entities’ EBIT decreased by $102.1 million.

Revenue reduction on the prior year was mainly attributable to lower rail access revenue as a result of a regulatory imposed adjustment charge.

Operating expenses increased by 6.8 per cent on the prior year, due to higher labour costs due to an increase in full time equivalents and an increase in 

employee overtime, partly off set by an increase in capitalised labour, a decrease in performance payments and an increase in consumables. 

Depreciation and amortisation expense decreased 3.2 per cent driven by accelerated depreciation in the prior year associated with a decrease on the residual 

value of regional railway track assets. 

A dividend of $100.5 million was declared in respect of the year ended 30 June 2017. This dividend will be paid during 2017-18.

Financial performance measures compared to the 2016-17 Operational Plan 

Unit 2016-17 Actual 2016-17 Target

Earnings before interest and tax $M 324.8 340.8

Net profi t after tax $M 100.5 108.1

Return on operating assets  % 5.08 4.98

Debt to debt plus equity % 53.83 55.33

The performance indicators listed above are as per those included in the Queensland Rail Operational Plan 2016-17.

Financial summary
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Consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2017

2016-17 Actual ($M) 2015-16 Actual ($M)

Current assets 186.7 255.5

Non-current assets 6,868.4 6,619.9

Total assets 7,055.1 6,875.4

Current liabilities 568.4 646

Non-current liabilities 3,659.2 3,401.8

Total liabilities 4,227.6 4,047.8

Net assets 2,827.5 2,827.6

Contributed equity 2,591.9 2,591.9

Reserves (0.1) (0.0)

Retained earnings 235.7 235.7

Total equity 2,827.5 2,827.6

The consolidated entities’ current assets decreased by $68.8 million to $186.7 million as a result of decreased cash deposits. 

Non-current assets increased by $248.5 million due primarily to a net increase in property, plant and equipment after allowing for depreciation. 

The consolidated entities’ current liabilities decreased by 12 per cent to $568.4 million as a result of a decrease in trade and other payables, partially off set by 

an increase in short term borrowings.   

The consolidated entities’ non-current liabilities increased by 7.6 per cent to $3,659.2 million as a result of an increase in long term borrowings to fund capital 

expenditure.

Consolidated cash fl ows for the year ended 30 June 2017

2016-17 Actual ($M) 2015-16 Actual ($M)

Net cash infl ow from operating activities 441.8 501.3

Net cash (outfl ow) from investing activities (672.1) (538.8)

Net cash infl ow/(outfl ow) from fi nancing activities 114.5 (179.0)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (115.8) (216.5)

The decrease in cash infl ows from operating activities in the current year is due to a reduction in payments from customers and an increase in payments to 

suppliers and employees, off set by a decrease in interest payments and income tax instalments. 

The increase in cash outfl ows from investing activities in the current year is a result of increased expenditure on property, plant and equipment.

The increase in cash infl ows from fi nancing activities is attributable to an increase in borrowings to fund capital expenditure. 

Financial summary (cont)
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Safety and Environment

Safety continues to be Queensland Rail’s number 
one priority. In 2016-17, the fi ve year Enterprise 
Safety Strategy was launched to enable the vision 
of ‘Safety First. Always’.
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Safety and Environment
At Queensland Rail, safety comes fi rst. Always. To ensure its customers and employees are safe, 

Queensland Rail recognises the need to be vigilant on improving safety performance and for addressing 

any safety issues in a timely and comprehensive manner. A tragic workplace incident during 2017 has 

given the organisation pause to refl ect on the importance of safety as its number one priority. 

Initiatives to work safe in 2016-17 included:

• Launch of a new fi ve year Enterprise Safety Strategy

• Delivery of the fi rst annual National Rail Safeworking Conference

• Launch of the Citytrain and Travel and Tourism travelling customer 

safety improvement strategies.

Enterprise Safety Strategy

Queensland Rail launched a fi ve year Enterprise Safety Strategy in July 

2016 with the primary outcome being the vision of ‘Safety Comes First. 

Always.’ Other initiatives included a new frontline leadership training 

program and the implementation of a ‘lessons learnt’ safety framework 

from key incident investigation and assurance fi ndings.

Employees focussed safety campaign

In 2016-17 Queensland Rail initiated a number of campaigns to 

increase safety awareness across the organisation including a Work Safe. 

Home Safe. competition where winners became organisational safety 

ambassadors, and a Summer Safe campaign which raised awareness of 

risks related to sun and water safety and extreme weather. 

More than 1200 employees attended ‘Tackling Health and Safety 2016’ 

– a program featuring rugby league legend Shane Webcke. This program 

delivered a simple safety message and encouraged employees to fi nd their 

own personal motivation to stay safe. 

Alcohol and Other Drugs (AOD) management program

Queensland Rail’s AOD testing program is among the most rigorous in 

the Australian rail industry. Over the last year, the organisation conducted 

12,434 tests on employees and contractors as part of its AOD testing 

process, an increase of 54 per cent from 2015-16.

In July 2016, Queensland Rail implemented recommendations arising from 

an external review by Queensland University of Technology’s Professor 

Jeremy Davey, Deputy Director of CARRS-Q, to ensure Queensland Rail’s 

AOD management program continues to refl ect best practice. The program 

is now focussed on cultural change, ongoing education and awareness 

programs for employees.

Safety at level crossings

Queensland Rail recorded a 21 per cent reduction in the number of level 

crossing near miss incidents compared to 2015-16. The organisation 

invested $11 million in level crossing upgrades and maintenance across 

the SEQ network. Two level crossings on the Gold Coast line at Spanns 

Road and Holmview Road in Holmview received renewals, and Queensland 

Rail will renew a further 20 crossings over the next 18 months. These level 

crossing works contribute to the safe passage of road users and pedestrians 

across the SEQ network with new equipment that provides improved 

maintainability and reliability.

Customer safety

Queensland Rail has implemented various safety improvements and 

initiatives across the Citytrain and Travel and Tourism networks during the 

2016-17 fi nancial year, including:

• Improved facilities for the movement of customers on our overhauled 

long distance service

• Improved safety signage in Brisbane CBD stations

• Specialist assessments of customer boarding equipment

• Enhanced customer safety messaging on Citytrain and Travel 

and Tourism services.

Through these safety initiatives, customer safety performance continued 

a gradual improvement with a 12 per cent reduction in customer injuries 

from the previous year.

Environment

Queensland Rail is also committed to managing its services and 
operational activities in an environmentally responsible manner.

Julia Creek derailment remediation

In December 2015, a third party operator’s train derailed near Julia Creek 

on the Mount Isa line, resulting in the uncontrolled release of 60,873 litres 

of concentrated sulfuric acid.  Extensive investigation and remediation 

works were undertaken to address any environmental impacts in the 

rail corridor. In September 2016, Queensland Rail completed the full 

remediation and validation and provided the required reporting to the 

Department of Environment and Heritage Protection.

Managing wildlife interfaces

Queensland Rail continues to investigate and implement improved 

measures to manage native wildlife interactions across the network through 

the installation of wildlife friendly devices on corridor, planting of koala 

habitat and food trees within environmental reserves, and managing 

wildlife under an approved Species Management Program.

During 2016-17, Queensland Rail partnered with Moreton Bay Regional 

Council to manage the Dakabin station carpark off set program which 

resulted in the revegetation of 3.5 hectares of environmental reserve at 

Brendale with 1225 koala food and habitat trees. The off set aims to 

re-establish an important wildlife corridor within the Moreton Bay region.

Reducing noise impacts

In 2016-17 Queensland Rail has renewed its focus on managing noise 

associated with essential night time construction and maintenance 

activities by developing guidance and planning tools. Queensland Rail 

also continues to investigate and trial, as applicable, cutting edge noise 

reduction technologies to reduce the impact to those living close to rail 

infrastructure. 
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People and Culture

Queensland Rail is committed to building a 
diverse and inclusive workplace. 
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People and Culture
Queensland Rail has a renewed focus on its employees and driving a customer-centric culture through 

its recruitment, training, diversity and inclusion initiatives. People and culture are at the forefront of 

transforming the business into a modern, world-class railway and Queensland Rail is committed to 

ensuring a safe, inclusive and enjoyable workplace. 

As at 30 June 2017, there were 6520 full-time equivalents (FTEs) 
employed at Queensland Rail, of which:

• 87 per cent were employed in core functions (Citytrain, Regional 

Network and Freight, Travel and Tourism)

• The top three occupations were Train Driver (11 per cent), Trackworker 

(10 per cent), and Station Manager and Offi  cer (9 per cent)

• 21 per cent were women (50 per cent in enabling functions and 

17 per cent in core functions)

• 2 per cent identifi ed as being Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander

• 4 per cent identifi ed as having a disability and 8 per cent as coming 

from a non-English speaking background

• 89 per cent were employed on a permanent basis 

• The average length of service was 14 years and the average age of 

employees was 45 years.

Recruitment and training of train crew

Queensland Rail is committed to recruiting customer focussed employees 

and fast-tracking the training of train crew to ensure enough supply to 

deliver reliable, on-time services.

In line with the recommendations of the COI, Queensland Rail established 

a specialised Recruitment and Training Response/Recovery workstream 

within People and Culture to deliver improved outcomes for managing 

train crew supply and demand. The Train Services Delivery (TSD) Strategic 

Workforce Plan has provided data driven insights to further explore 

workforce risks and to ensure enough supply of train crew. Initiatives set 

to fast-track training of new recruits include sectorised tuition, improved 

workforce arrangements, streamlined Recognition of Prior Learning 

and Recognition of Current Competence processes, and new simulator 

training. Together, these initiatives are aimed at delivering shorter training 

timeframes, increased numbers of training schools and better transfer of 

learning. 

Queensland Rail launched a recruitment process for new drivers and guards 

and to 30 June 2017, this has resulted in 107 trainee drivers selected; 

with 85 currently in training and 263 additional guards selected with 40 

currently in training. In addition there are 65 experienced drivers in the fi nal 

stages of testing. Queensland Rail has moved from intermittent recruitment 

campaigns to ongoing recruitment and training of drivers and guards to 

meet long-term requirements over a fi ve year rolling forecast of demand 

and supply.

Psychometric testing and safety outcomes

Queensland Rail has approximately 2000 safety critical positions including 

roles such as protection offi  cers, train guards, maintenance workers, network 

controllers and train drivers. These positions are all subject to psychometric 

assessment for recruitment and/or accreditation. A recent independently 

validated study demonstrated that the psychometric testing framework is 

contributing to a safer workplace by helping select the right people for the 

right roles. 

Apprentices, trainees and graduates

Queensland Rail recruited 42 apprentices, trainees and graduates in the 

2016-17 fi nancial year. Apprentices, graduates and trainees provide an 

opportunity for Queensland Rail’s experienced employees to mentor 

and share their technical skills and rail knowledge with the new recruits. 

Queensland Rail’s new apprentices, graduates and trainees have been 

employed across the state in Brisbane, Ipswich, Toowoomba, Gracemere, 

Rockhampton, Bundaberg, Townsville and Cairns.

Diversity initiatives

Queensland Rail is committed to building a diverse and inclusive workplace. 

One focus has been the promotion of cultural diversity and employment 

opportunities for refugees through the Multicultural Development 

Association’s ‘Work and Welcome’ program. Of the four participants 

involved in 2016-17, three were placed in ongoing employment within 

Queensland Rail. 

Other initiatives included supporting the Milpera State High School’s 

Bursary Program for students from a refugee background and celebrating 

NAIDOC Week with events in Brisbane and Cairns. Throughout 2016-17 

Queensland Rail has focussed on attracting more diverse applicant pools 

and engaged with a number of diversity partners such as the Diverse City 

Careers (DCC) to attract more women to non-traditional occupations, 

Mission Australia for the recruitment of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

people and disability employment service providers.

Improving the culture

In September 2016 Queensland Rail invited employees to have their say 

on their experience of working at Queensland Rail. An employee survey 

was conducted in partnership with global insights company CEB to identify 

opportunities and strengths, with 66 per cent of employees across the 

business completing the survey. The insight gathered from the survey will 

enable the organisation to put appropriate actions in place to set the 

foundation for a cultural transformation.

Leadership capability 

Leadership will be a crucial factor to retain key talent and drive the change 

to a customer-fi rst culture in the coming years. Over the last 12 months 

there has been a focus on leadership development at the frontline level. 

The Frontline Leadership Program was developed in partnership with the 

Australian Institute of Management (AIM) to align to the 12 Queensland 

Rail leadership capabilities. A total of 326 participants enrolled in modules 

for the 2016-17 period with 69 per cent of enrolments coming from the 

Network and Operations functions. 

Throughout 2017, Queensland Rail continued to run a series of senior 

leadership forums where external guest speakers attended to share 

their experiences on topics such as diversity and inclusion, leadership 

development, safety strategies and culture. This approach was developed 

to ‘bring the outside in’ and ensure Queensland Rail fosters diversity in 

thought and positions itself as a learning organisation.
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In the community

Queensland Rail hosts quarterly Rail Safety 
Orientation Days where students and 
representatives from the accessibility sector are 
educated on how to safely use the rail network.
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In the community
Queensland Rail is passionate about community involvement and about being a good neighbour to the 

communities in which it operates. The organisation is committed to fi nding practical, innovative ways of 

connecting with communities through a wide range of programs and events.

Key highlights in 2016-17 include:

• Named Corporate Philanthropist of the Year at the 2017 Queensland 

Community Foundation (QCF) Philanthropist of the Year Awards

• Educated more than 28,000 students about rail safety

• Raised more than $500,000 in fundraising and donations from customers 

and employees and provided more than $500,000 worth of in kind 

opportunities.

Corporate Philanthropist of the Year

In June 2017, Queensland Rail was named Corporate Philanthropist of 

the Year at this year’s annual Queensland Community Foundation (QCF) 

Philanthropist of the Year Awards in Brisbane. This was the third time 

Queensland Rail had been nominated for the prestigious award, nominated 

in previous years by Guide Dogs Queensland, The Starlight Children’s 

Foundation, RizeUp, Endeavour Foundation and this year by Cancer Council 

Queensland. The award acknowledged the ongoing commitment by 

Queensland Rail to connect with communities and work closely with a diverse 

range of charity partners.

Charity and community partnerships

This year, Queensland Rail selected fi ve not-for-profi t partners for the 2017 

to 2019 period – Cancer Council Queensland, Guide Dogs Queensland, The 

Starlight Children’s Foundation, RSPCA Queensland and Youngcare. These 

charity partners were selected following an employee survey at the end of 

2016. 

Throughout the past 12 months, Queensland Rail has joined forces with 

community groups, government departments and media organisations 

to raise awareness about important community issues including child 

protection, parenting support, domestic and family violence, and natural 

disasters.

A number of community investments were made during the last year 

including the donation of more than 1000 blankets to provide warmth to 

those less fortunate, essential items to support domestic and family violence 

victims in starting a new life, a shade sail for the Banyo C&K childcare centre 

and a number of sleepers and surplus platform seats to local community 

groups.

The Queensland Gives appeal launched in November 2016 and encouraged 

employees to donate a ‘welcome gift’ to new migrants and refugees. More 

than 1500 gifts and more than $2600 worth of gift cards were sent to 

migrants and refugees in regional Queensland via the Spirit of Queensland 

long distance services.

Accessibility

Queensland Rail is committed to providing rail services that enable all 

customers to carry out their journey without barriers. The organisation takes 

great pride in its track record of improving accessibility and continues to 

invest heavily in this area.

Engaging with customers with disabilities is an integral part of planning 

for accessible rail services. Queensland Rail works closely with the disability 

sector to identify and remove barriers and pioneer solutions which support 

inclusive communities.

Established in 2003, Queensland Rail’s Accessibility Reference Group is the 

primary forum for engagement with various disability sector organisations. 

Its members include Vision Australia, Blind Citizens Australia, Guide Dogs 

Queensland, Better Hearing Australia, Deaf Services Queensland, Cerebral 

Palsy League, Endeavour Foundation, Queenslanders with Disabilities 

Network and the MS Society. 

The reference group meets on a quarterly basis to ensure the voices of 

customers and the community are heard. In turn, this feedback provides 

valuable input into decision making to deliver a more accessible rail network.

Community engagement

Queensland Rail held numerous community events throughout the 2016-17 

fi nancial year. Highlights included the Dawnie Express in September 2016, 

which involved a special steam train service operating from Brisbane to 

Charleville to celebrate National Bilby Day. Along the way, the train picked 

up excited students from Mungallala State School for a short trip and upon 

reaching Charleville, stopped for the local community to participate in a bilby 

meet and greet.

In October 2016, Queensland Rail hosted His Excellency the Honourable Paul 

de Jersey AC and Mrs de Jersey, along with state and federal representatives 

and a large community gathering, at Longreach station to celebrate the 

station’s 100-year centenary milestone.  

In June 2016, BB18¼ 1079, better known as ‘Bety’,  steamed her way to 

Cloncurry for the town’s 150th birthday celebrations. Almost 100 passengers 

took in the scenery from Townsville to Cloncurry, stopping at Charters Towers, 

Hughenden and Richmond along the way.

Queensland Rail presented another successful stand at the Royal Queensland 

Show (Ekka) in August 2016 with plenty of visitors checking out the virtual 

reality educational tool on off er from Endeavour Foundation, as well as 

meeting the rail squad team and learning about rail safety.
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Community education

Queensland Rail places a strong emphasis on educating schools and 

childcare facilities along the network in rail safety. In 2016-17 Queensland 

Rail held 164 presentations, including in regional areas. These sessions 

helped to ensure that children are well aware of the dangers associated with 

the rail network. 

Rail Safety Orientation Days continued in 2016-17 with sessions taking place 

each quarter. Over 250 new immigrant and refugee students from Milpera 

State High School and young customers with disabilities were provided with 

the opportunity to familiarise themselves with trains and platforms through a 

vital safety educational experience.

Positive pARTnerships Program

The Positive pARTnerships Program is a Queensland Rail initiative that 

provides opportunities for local artists and youth by delivering urban art 

projects across the network in order to enhance rail infrastructure, prevent 

graffi  ti and create social communal value. The program encourages 

collaborations and seeks out partnerships with local councils and community 

groups. To date, the program has delivered more than 140 projects, covering 

over 23,000 square metres of the rail network.

New projects in 2016-17 included collaborations with school students at 

Beerburrum, Elimbah and Pomona stations, transformation of the Nambour 

bus interchange and subway, new artwork on the Airport line and at the Park 

Road Traction Control Unit, and a continuation of the Merivale Bridge Pillars 

Project.

The artist group ‘Brightsiders’ worked with 
indigenous students from Griffi  th University to 
create the positive pARTnership mural along 
the Airport line.
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Citytrain

51.69 million passenger trips were taken on the 
Citytrain network during 2016-17.
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Citytrain
Queensland Rail’s Citytrain network faced signifi cant operational issues in late 2016. With the 

organisation determined to get back on track, it resolved to put customers fi rst and give Queenslanders 

the modern, reliable rail services they deserve. In addition, Queensland Rail delivered a range of 

customer focussed projects to improve station accessibility and visual amenity, and set the foundation 

for the world-class rail system of the future.

Key highlights in 2016-17 included:

• 51.69 million passenger trips were taken on the Citytrain network

• 1.54 million hours were spent maintaining the SEQ network

• The Redcliff e Peninsula line opened connecting the rail network from 

Petrie to Kippa-Ring in the Moreton Bay region.

Station upgrades and refreshes

In 2016-17 Queensland Rail continued the $212 million program to 

upgrade SEQ railway stations over fi ve years.

Construction works were completed at Nambour station in March 2017 and 

Dinmore in June 2017 with Alderley, Newmarket and Graceville on track to 

be completed by the end of 2017. Improvements include new footbridges 

and lifts, high level platforms to provide easier access to trains at the 

assisted boarding point, accessible toilets and extended waiting shelters.

Queensland Rail has announced further station upgrades for Strathpine, 

Morayfi eld and Boondall stations with detailed design underway and works 

scheduled to commence in late 2017 at Strathpine and Morayfi eld, and 

early 2018 at Boondall.

Queensland Rail has invested an additional $6 million to refresh 10 

locations across the SEQ network. These sites will receive minor upgrades, 

including improved signage, new platform furniture, enhanced surfaces and 

fi nishes, landscaping, and an industrial clean. The selected locations are 

Windsor, Wilston, Manly, Murarrie, Beenleigh, Wacol, Goodna, Park Road 

and Bowen Hill stations, as well as artworks at The Barracks at Roma Street.

European Train Control System (ETCS)

In 2016-17, Queensland Rail commenced its journey to introduce ETCS 

technology to the network. ETCS will enhance Queensland Rail’s existing 

safety systems, virtually eliminating the risk of collision due to speeding 

and Signals Passed at Danger (SPADs) and replace 26 per cent of the SEQ 

rail network’s ageing signalling equipment with new systems to improve 

reliability.

The program consists of the ETCS North Coast line (NCL) project, a $43 

million project that will implement a Level 1 (L1) ETCS trackside system 

from Caboolture to Gympie North, and the $634 million ETCS Inner City 

Project to implement an ETCS Level 2 (L2) communications-based in-cab 

signalling and control system throughout the inner city core area of the 

SEQ network (Northgate to Milton including Normanby and the Shorncliff e 

lines). The NCL L1 project is due to go-live in 2019 and the Inner City L2 

project in 2023.

Central station upgrade

As part of a multi-year program of works, Central station will be upgraded 

and refurbished at a cost of more than $67 million. The program will 

revitalise the historic station, which was originally built in 1889. 

The Central station upgrade program comprises six key projects, which 

will modernise the station platforms, increase passenger capacity and 

improve amenity and accessibility throughout the station. The fi rst project, 

refurbishment of the station back of house area, was completed in April 

2017.

Planning and design is well advanced for the refurbishment of station 

platforms; upgrade of the outer-concourse roof; upgrade of escalators 

linking the outer-concourse and Anzac Square; upgrade of escalators to and 

from station platforms; and upgraded platform and outer concourse lifts. 

Interim works are planned to be completed by 2018 prior to the 

Commonwealth Games. Remaining major components of work will 

commence after the Commonwealth Games and are expected to be 

completed in late 2019.

New Generation Rollingstock 

DTMR is managing its $4.4 billion NGR project, which will see the addition 

of 75 new six-car trains to be operated by Queensland Rail for Citytrain 

services. Queensland Rail is leading the NGR operational readiness program 

to ensure the smooth introduction of the NGR trains while continuing to 

maintain safety of its employees and customers, on-time running and high 

levels of customer satisfaction. 

The NGR operational readiness program includes: construction of 

new stabling sites at Banyo, Elimbah and Woombye, and upgrades to 

Robina and Mayne to accommodate the NGR trains; modifi cations 

to existing infrastructure and facilities to be compatible with the new 

trains and operating procedures; new business systems to support the 

integration of NGR into the fl eet; and change support and training for the 

implementation of operational changes.

Queensland Rail and DTMR are working together to get the NGR trains on 

track as soon as possible, without compromising safety. The operational 

readiness program is on track to support the roll-out of the new trains. The 

fi rst NGR train is expected to enter passenger service in the second half of 

2017.
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Commonwealth Games readiness

It’s an exciting time for Queensland as the state prepares to host the 

largest sporting event in Australia this decade – the 2018 Commonwealth 

Games. Queensland Rail will play a major part in supporting the event by 

transporting customers to the Gold Coast and back during the Games period. 

The following key projects will ensure Queensland Rail is ready to help 

support a successful transport operation:

• The $163 million Coomera to Helensvale Duplication project, expected to 

be completed at the end of 2017, will provide a second rail line along an 

8.2 kilometre stretch between two key Gold Coast stations enabling an 

increase in rail services during the Commonwealth Games

• A $10 million refurbishment of six Gold Coast stations will see freshly 

painted station buildings, an upgrade of toilet facilities, new signage and 

Passenger Information Display screens

• To ensure there is suffi  cient power for the additional trains travelling on 

the Gold Coast line, $8 million is being invested to reinforce the power 

supply along this section of the network

• Approximately $1.5 million has been allocated to Ormeau, Coomera, 

Helensvale, Nerang and Robina stations to receive a CCTV overhaul, 

where existing analogue cameras will be replaced with high defi nition 

digital technology. The upgrades will deliver better resolution and 

quality of CCTV images at the stations, to improve real-time monitoring 

capability and management of incidents and enhance the safety 

and security of customers, staff  and the public throughout the 

Commonwealth Games and into the future.

Security

In 2016-17 Queensland Rail continued to focus on employee and customer 

security through its strategic partnership with the Queensland Police Service 

(QPS) Railway Squad.  In addition to the 78 Railway Squad offi  cers dedicated 

to the rail network, Queensland Rail recruited and trained 10 new Authorised 

Offi  cers who commenced duties in June 2017. These offi  cers are equipped 

with the skills to provide customer service on the Queensland Rail network. 

Over the last year, Queensland Rail conducted more than 20 security and 

emergency exercises with employees and other agencies, including the 

Queensland Fire and Emergency Service (QFES), QPS and the Queensland 

Ambulance Service. The simulated exercises are an important part of 

emergency training and ensure procedures, protocols and communications 

are well practised in the unlikely event there is a major incident. 

 In May 2017, Queensland Rail partnered with the QPS in the delivery of 

Queensland’s largest-ever counter-terrorism training exercise, ‘Exercise Jarvis’. 

This exercise included the simulated derailment of a passenger train on our 

Citytrain network and the coordinated multiagency response and recovery 

process. In June 2017, a major fi eld exercise, ‘Exercise Baron’ was conducted 

in partnership with the QFES simulating a rescue operation involving the  

Kuranda Scenic Railway.

The Coomera to Helensvale duplication project 
is on track to be completed in time for the 2018 
Commonwealth Games.
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Regional Network
and Freight

$236.1 million was spent maintaining the regional 
network during 2016-17.
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Regional Network and Freight
Queensland Rail’s regional network spans more than 5700 kilometres of track and comprises seven rail 

systems that convey passenger and freight services across Queensland to support the state’s economy 

in the tourism, mining, agriculture, construction, wholesale and retail sectors.

Key highlights in 2016-17 include:

• $163.3 million access revenue received

• $236.1 million spent maintaining the regional network.

Cyclone Debbie recovery

When Mother Nature strikes, Queensland Rail is quick to respond and 

restore the backbone of the state’s transport system. In March 2017, 

Cyclone Debbie caused extensive damage to the North Queensland rail 

network with more than 116 washouts on the line, requiring round-the-

clock crews to inspect, repair and test the line before it could be re-opened. 

Safety is Queensland Rail’s number one priority, and before the cyclone hit, 

the organisation moved to safely transport both customers and employees 

to Rockhampton and away from the danger zone. The recovery eff ort saw 

the Queensland Rail team test 67 level crossings and rebuild another six, 

ensuring the line was returned to a safe operating railway less than two 

weeks after the event.

The weather event also aff ected a number of lines on the SEQ network, the 

most signifi cant being at Beenleigh where fl ood waters almost reached 

platform level at the station and carparks were under water by more than 

a metre.

During the clean-up process, Queensland Rail used four water trucks and 

350,000 litres of recycled water for cleaning, and removed around 30 

cubic metres of rubbish. The organisation closed Beenleigh station on the 

Friday morning and re-opened it for bus services on Monday morning while 

continuing work to ensure the rail lines and station precinct were safe for 

operation.

Timber bridge replacements

Queensland Rail is committed to progressively moving to preventative asset 

maintenance regimes to improve network reliability. It continues to replace 

aging timber bridges on the regional network with steel and concrete 

structures with nine bridge replacements completed during the 2016-17 

fi nancial year. Queensland Rail removed and replaced bridges in the Ipswich 

and Toowoomba regions, and conducted improvement works on bridges 

at Gatton and Rockhampton. Queensland Rail will spend a total of $8.8 

million in the next stage of bridge upgrades in the Central West region as 

the organisation replaces a further 18 structures over the next 12 months.

Level crossing upgrades

Queensland Rail continued the $12.5 million program to upgrade 15 level 

crossings across regional Queensland and improve safety at road and 

rail interfaces. In the 2016-17 period, the organisation completed three 

crossings including Kate Street in Portsmith, Deppeller Road in Edmonton 

and Cemetery Road in Chinchilla. The remaining crossings are expected to 

be completed by mid-2018.

Reopening of Cecil Plains branch line

Towards the end of 2016, Queensland Rail constructed 1.3 kilometres of 

new track on the Cecil Plains branch line (previously out of service for over 

a decade) to enable livestock services to operate from western Queensland 

through to Oakey. The project delivered 1900 sleepers and 2300 tonnes of 

ballast which also included a turnout and reconditioning of a level crossing 

and upgrade works at Mitchell.  

Mount Isa line

The Mount Isa line is an important connection for the non-coal mining 

industry as materials are regularly moved between the mines and the port. 

Queensland Rail completed a six month project at the end of 2016 to 

replace 37,000 sleepers with concrete ones, improving the reliability on the 

Mount Isa line. The project also saw the team deliver a major upgrade of 

Mount Isa yard – installing 3000 new concrete sleepers, as well as 500 new 

timber turnout sleepers. 

Access agreements

Access agreements are critical to connecting industry with their markets 

and supporting the growth of rail freight in Queensland. The QCA 

approved Queensland Rail’s fi rst Access Undertaking in October 2016. This 

undertaking sets out the terms and conditions for third party rail operators 

to access the Queensland Rail network and will allow the growth of the 

freight rail business. Access revenue reached $163.3 million in the 2016-17 

fi nancial year with Queensland Rail signing a number of new or varied 

access agreements involving freight train operations on the West Moreton, 

North Coast line and Mount Isa networks.

Long coal train trials

In conjunction with Aurizon, Queensland Rail conducted trials of 63 

wagon coal trains in the West Moreton rail system. The trial will provide 

information on how using a 63 wagon train over the standard 41 wagon 

train impacts on critical curves and grades on the network. With associated 

infrastructure upgrades, the operation of longer trains will increase capacity 

of the West Moreton system.

Regional network development to support freight growth

Queensland Rail plans to invest signifi cantly to support freight growth 

on the North Coast line. This includes the North Coast line capacity 

improvement project that involves the extension of eight crossing loops 

between Rockhampton and Townsville and the upgrade of the signalling 

system to enable intermodal train lengths to be increased from 680 metres 

to 850 metres. The project will enable rail operators to operate more 

effi  cient trains, thereby increasing their competiveness relative to road.
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Travel and Tourism

More than 760,000 passengers travelled on the 
Travel and Tourism network during 2016-17.
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Travel and Tourism
The Queensland Rail Travel and Tourism network off ers the largest and most comprehensive network of 

long distance and tourist trains in Australia. Queensland Rail’s services extend along the coastline from 

Brisbane to Cairns and west to Charleville, Longreach and Mount Isa. 

Key highlights in 2016-17 include:

• More than 760,000 passengers travelled on the Travel and Tourism 

network

• The KSR saw more than 450,000 passengers using the service, an 

increase of over 38,000 on last fi nancial year

• Special celebrations with steam train visits for signifi cant anniversaries in 

Charleville, Longreach and Cloncurry helping celebrate major milestones 

with a piece of Queensland Rail history.

Kuranda Scenic Railway record numbers

In 2016-17, the KSR recorded the highest patronage fi gures in almost a 

decade. Locals took advantage of special reduced rate off ers and many 

international visitors to the area took the train ride through the World 

Heritage Wet Tropic Rainforest.

Queensland Rail also completed a maintenance project which saw the 

replacement of 10,000 life expired sleepers across 30 kilometres of track on 

the Kuranda Range, improving the safety and reliability of the service into 

the future.

Electric tilt train overhaul

Queensland Rail has completed the mid-life overhaul of the Bundaberg and 

Rockhampton tilt trains to extend their service life and ensure they continue 

to perform safely and reliably for years to come.

The fi rst refurbished tilt train was completed and re-entered service in 

mid-2016 and the fi nal train returned to service in early September 2017. 

Enhancements include upgrades to key mechanical, electrical and control 

components and internal refurbishments including new carpet and curtains, 

new seat coverings, USB charging outlets and a new Wi-Fi service.

Anniversary celebrations

The Normanton to Croydon railway line commemorated 125 years of 

service in 2016.  A standalone line, unconnected to the state rail network, 

much of the line remains in its original state. Gulfl ander services travel once 

a week on a fi ve hour journey through untouched countryside and in 

2016-17 transported nearly 8000 passengers to their destination.

Longreach station also reached its 100 year milestone in 2016 with 

customers, visitors and locals enjoying a special evening with the Governor 

of Queensland. The Spirit of the Outback service off ers customers an iconic 

journey between Brisbane and Longreach and over the last year close 

to 14,000 customers travelled through the outback on Queensland Rail 

services.

More than 1000 customers travelled on a steam train operated by 

Queensland Rail in June 2017 as it travelled to Cloncurry to coincide 

with the local 2017 show which was part of the town’s 150th anniversary 

celebrations.   

Restorations

In 2016-17, Queensland Rail restored the Townsville railway station to its 

former glory. Repairs were undertaken to the roof, and new roof sheeting 

and insulation was installed. The state heritage listed building, closed 

in 2003 to the public, is now home to Queensland Rail Network and 

Operations employees.

Another restoration that took place was an overhaul of one of the KSR’s 

unique carriages by Queensland Rail employees. Previously, this work had 

been undertaken by Aurizon but is now being delivered internally. The 

refurbished wooden coach was improved to ensure a safe, reliable and 

authentic service for customers and returned to service in August 2016 

after a six month restoration.

Travel and Tourism Product Strategy

The current Travel and Tourism Product Strategy is set to be fi nalised by 

the end of 2017 with an aim to provide strategic direction for the Travel 

and Tourism business. The strategy is expected to cover streamlining the 

existing business processes to simplify system requirements, identifying 

system capabilities which will enhance customer experience, revisiting the 

procurement process to ensure an effi  cient, future focussed system can be 

secured, and exploring opportunities to grow the business.
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Governance structure as at 30 June 2017

State of Queensland – Responsible Ministers

Deputy Premier, Minister for Transport 

and Minister for Infrastructure and Planning

The Hon. Jackie Trad MP

Treasurer and Minister for Trade and Investment

The Hon. Curtis Pitt MP

Queensland Rail 

Board Members
Phillip Strachan (Chair)

Stephen Cantwell

Jemina Dunn 

David Marchant AM

Renaye Peters

Paul Wallis

CEO
Nick Easy

People and Safety
Committee

Stephen Cantwell (Chair)

Phillip Strachan

Jemina Dunn

David Marchant AM

Audit and Risk 
Committee

David Marchant AM (Chair)

Phillip Strachan

Stephen Cantwell

Renaye Peters

Paul Wallis

Major Projects 
and Procurement 

Committee

Paul Wallis (Chair)

Phillip Strachan

Jemina Dunn

Renaye Peters

Queensland Rail 
Limited

On Track Insurance 
Pty Ltd
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Organisational structure as at 30 June 2017

CEO
Nick Easy

A/ Executive General Manager 
Commercial and Strategy 

and Chief Financial Offi  cer (CFO)
Jim Benstead

A/ General Counsel and 
Executive General 

Manager Governance
Robert Bosiljevac

Executive General Manager 
Projects

Liam Gordon

Executive General Manager 
Citytrain

Nick King

Executive General Manager 
Network
Tim Ripper

Executive General Manager 
Travel and Tourism

Martin Ryan

Executive General Manager 
People and Culture

Louise Collins
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Board

Phillip Strachan
Chair, Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed 7 February 2017

Experience: Phillip has 35 years’ experience working at Rio Tinto which has provided him with strong strategic 

managerial and operational experience, and a key focus on business performance. He has held a number of executive 

roles within the Rio Tinto Group, including Chief Financial Offi  cer at Rio Tinto Aluminium in Brisbane and Chief Financial 

Offi  cer at Rio Tinto Alcan in Montreal. He also spent time as Chief Executive Offi  cer of the Bauxite and Alumina global 

business unit.

Phillip has mergers and acquisition experience and has been involved in developing and driving the strategy and leading 

the operations of a global business. He is currently a Director of the Great Barrier Reef Foundation, a position he has 

held since 2003 and is the current Chair of its Audit and Risk Committee. He is also a Director of Tilt Renewables Limited, 

a company listed on the NZX and ASX. At Tilt he is Chair of the Health, Safety, Environment and Community Committee 

and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

More recently, Phillip served as a Commissioner of the Queensland Rail Train Crewing Practices Commission of Inquiry in late 2016, with the fi nal report of the 

Commission delivered to the Queensland Government on 31 January 2017.

Qualifi cations:  BCom, FCPA, MAICD

Member of:  Audit and Risk Committee, Major Projects and Procurement Committee, People and Safety Committee

Other Board and Committee Memberships:  Director – Great Barrier Reef Foundation,  Director – Tilt Renewables Limited

Stephen Cantwell
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed 1 October 2016

Experience: Stephen has more than 35 years’ experience in a broad range of strategic, functional and customer-facing 

roles within multi-billion dollar national and international business environments. He has extensive functional and 

operational experience backed by strong commercial acumen.

Most recently, Stephen has worked with Bradken, a publicly listed Australian-based company supplying diff erentiated 

consumable and capital products to global markets in the resources, freight rail and power generation sectors.  During 

this time, he headed multi-million dollar businesses making and selling products across the globe.  This work involved 

responsibility for operations in Australasia, Africa, China, India; as well as North and South America. 

As Chief Operating Offi  cer and later Interim Chief Executive Offi  cer of Queensland Rail, Stephen led Australia’s largest 

transportation company through a period of major restructuring and change, delivering growth and innovation across 

a broad portfolio of Queensland Rail’s activities. He has established a reputation as a national leader in transport innovation and his work has extended well 

into the resources sector where he has led the commercial development of the supply chain and infrastructure components of a number of major projects in 

liquefi ed natural gas, alumina and coal, in Australia and overseas. He has built strong international and business credentials, working with a range of global 

corporations and governments to advise in the areas of transport, logistics and infrastructure.

Qualifi cations: MBus, BBus, Grad Dip Transport and Logistics Management, FCILT, FCIEAM, GAICD

Member of: Audit and Risk Committee, People and Safety Committee (Chair), Response and Recovery Steering Committee

Other Board and Committee Memberships: Director – Tasmanian Railways Pty Ltd (TasRail), Director – Port of Brisbane Pty Ltd
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Jemina Dunn
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed 1 October 2016

Experience: Jemina was appointed CEO of South Bank Corporation in July 2017. Prior to this she was QLD State 

Director at the Australian Industry Group (Ai Group), Australia’s largest peak body representing business and industry, 

where she led the organisation’s QLD operations. This role followed three years as Ai Group’s QLD Manager of Policy and 

Public Aff airs commencing in 2010.

She has 20 years of experience in growth management and planning for cities with a strong focus on urban design, 

regional planning, public transport infrastructure, and transit oriented development. This includes 10 years working at 

a senior level with the Queensland state government. Prior to this, she worked for 10 years as a statutory and strategic 

planner with local governments in NSW.

Jemina is a member of the Australian Super QLD Advisory Board. She has previously been a Non-Executive Director on 

the Board of Construction Skills Queensland, and sat on the QLD Premier’s Business Advisory Forum, the Queensland Government’s Small Business Advisory 

Council, Board for Urban Places and Safety Expert Leadership Reference Group, along with QUT’s Centre for Subtropical Design Board and the Kidney Health 

Australia QLD Advisory Committee. She has been a guest lecturer with University of Queensland’s (UQ) Faculty of Geography, Planning and Environmental 

Management and a mentor with both UQ and Griffi  th University.

Qualifi cations: B.URP, Grad. Cert. (Public Sector Man.), MAICD

Member of: People and Safety Committee, Major Projects and Procurement Committee

Other Board and Committee Memberships: Member – Australian Super, Queensland Advisory Board, Member – Kidney Health Australia, 

Queensland Advisory Committee

David Marchant AM
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed 7 October 2015

Experience: David has extensive Board experience and has held a number of executive and non-executive roles across a 

range of sectors including road, rail, water, gas, electricity, logistics and supply chain management. He is a former Chief 

Executive Offi  cer of the Australian Rail Track Corporation and Director and Chair of the Australian Railway Association. 

David also served as a Director of the Rail Industry Safety and Standards Board.

David has worked as Managing Director of Lend Lease Engineering and Managing Director of Lend Lease Infrastructure 

Services, and as a Director of the Hunter Valley Coal Chain Coordination Company Pty Ltd.

He received the General Division of the Order of Australia in 2013 for signifi cant service to the rail industry through 

national structural reform and infrastructure upgrades and has been a member of the Australian Institute of Company 

Directors since 2000.

Qualifi cations: GAICD

Member of: Audit and Risk Committee (Chair), People and Safety Committee

Other Board and Committee Memberships: Director - Airservices Australia

Board (cont)
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Board (cont)

Renaye Peters
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed 1 October 2016

Experience: Renaye is a Director at Conrad Gargett. She has more than 25 years of infrastructure experience, including 

senior executive roles with Leighton Contractors, Brisbane Airport and Visionstream.

Experienced in building high performance teams to deliver results, Renaye has contributed to many signifi cant 

infrastructure projects such as Eastern Busway and Inner Northern Busway.

Renaye has worked on many major precincts/projects and is known for her ability to off er innovative approaches to 

complex and sensitive tasks. An outspoken advocate for delivering more to communities when delivering infrastructure, 

Renaye highlights the importance of weaving infrastructure back into the urban fabric, creating added economic 

benefi ts and engagement with the community.

Renaye has contributed to the development of Queensland and Brisbane through board and committee roles such as the Queensland Government Precinct 

Advisory Committee (Chair), Brisbane City Council Infrastructure Committee, the Urban Land Development Authority and the University of Queensland 

Senate.

Her contributions are sought by government and industry to address key industry and state wide issues such as skill development, innovation and 

collaboration. She has worked closely with CEOs, board members, ministers and directors general to establish shared understanding of industry macro and 

micro economic impacts.

Qualifi cations: B.Arch (Hons), B.App.Sci, Grad Dip Project Management, Registered Architect, FAICD

Member of: Audit and Risk Committee, Major Projects and Procurement Committee, Response and Recovery Steering Committee (Chair)

Other Board and Committee Memberships: Member – Brisbane City Council Infrastructure Committee, Division Councillor – Property Council Australia 

(QLD), Chair – Women and Diversity Committee (Property Council Australia), Board Member – Property Industry Foundation Queensland

Paul Wallis
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed 30 July 2014

Experience: Paul is a Chartered Professional Engineer with 40 years’ experience in the planning, design and delivery of 

key infrastructure projects. In June 2016 he retired after 30 years with global consulting fi rm Arup Pty Limited, where he 

was the Brisbane leader and the regional Energy Business leader. Prior to joining Arup in 1986, he worked as a specialist 

geotechnical engineering consultant in Australia and as an Engineering Project Manager on major public housing 

projects with the Hong Kong Housing Authority. 

Paul is experienced in leading engineering teams to achieve results through innovation and challenging conventional 

design solutions to solve problems. He has contributed to many signifi cant projects across Queensland and 

internationally, especially in large scale transport infrastructure and energy development projects. These include the 

Airport Link and Northern Busway project in Brisbane, LNG facilities on Curtis Island at Gladstone, and the Kogan Power 

Station on Queensland’s Darling Downs.

Paul previously served on an advisory council to the Faculty of Engineering, Architecture and IT at the University of Queensland and was also a Director of 

Green Cross Australia and Kidsafe Queensland Inc. Paul remains a Kidsafe Ambassador.

Qualifi cations: BA MSc, FIEAust, CPEng, RPEQ, GAICD

Member of: Major Projects and Procurement Committee (Chair), Audit and Risk Committee

Other Board and Committee Memberships: Nil
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Executive Leadership Team

Nick Easy
Chief Executive Offi  cer

Prior to commencing at Queensland Rail, Nick was the CEO of the Port of Melbourne, Australia’s largest container 

and general cargo port, where he managed $10 billion of land and sea assets. He has also served as the CEO of the 

Metropolitan Fire and Emergency Services Board from June 2011 until February 2014 and was responsible for leading 

2200 employees through a period of sector reform.  

Jim Benstead
A/ Executive General Manager Commercial and Strategy and CFO

Jim has more than 30 years of extensive experience in the transport industry specialising in driving business 

improvement, delivering transformational change and leading outcome focussed commercial teams. As Acting Executive 

General Manager Commercial and Strategy and CFO, Jim is responsible  for monitoring the overall fi nancial performance 

of the business, third party rail access revenue agreements and the business service groups of Enterprise Strategy and 

Insights, ICT, Property, Road Fleet and Procurement.

Robert Bosiljevac
A/ General Counsel and Executive General Manager Governance

Robert is an experienced corporate and commercial lawyer, having gained experience in both private practice and in-

house legal roles over the last 20 years. Prior to joining Queensland Rail in 2014 as Deputy General Counsel managing 

the Property, Procurement and Contracts Advisory portfolio, Robert held the position of General Counsel with several 

well-known ASX-listed companies, including Villa World Limited (ASX- VLW) and Sunland Group Limited (ASX- SDG), as 

well as senior in-house counsel roles with major domestic and international coal mining companies. As Acting General 

Counsel for Queensland Rail, Robert is responsible for the provision of legal advice to the organisation and Board of 

Directors, as well as the establishment and maintenance of appropriate corporate governance frameworks covering 

risk, audit and compliance. Robert advises on a wide range of legal issues including litigation and dispute resolution, 

industrial relations, employment issues, corporate governance, projects, property, procurement and contract law. In 

addition to his qualifi cations, Robert brings to Queensland Rail an in-depth knowledge of the property development and 

construction industry. Robert was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Queensland in 1997.
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Louise Collins
Executive General Manager People and Culture

Louise has worked in the rail industry for over 15 years with experience in operations planning, customer service, 

technology-enabled business process improvement, human resource management and operations line leadership. 

She has led large scale transformation initiatives delivering signifi cant cost reduction, asset effi  ciencies, process 

improvement and culture change.

Louise has previously worked for Queensland Rail and has re-joined as the Executive General Manager People and 

Culture to lead the human resource and employee relations divisions and the transformation of Queensland Rail 

through improved management processes and our people.

Nick King
Executive General Manager Citytrain

Nick has worked in the rail industry for over 30 years, in Australia, South East Asia and the UK. During this time he 

has been responsible for a variety of roles in both railway operations and fl eet service provision. Experiences include 

timetable and roster development, network control, operations management, fl eet introduction and fl eet asset 

management. In his current role as Executive General Manager Citytrain, Nick is responsible for the safe and reliable 

operation of the Citytrain service, along with the strategic management of the operating assets and staff  required to 

be a world class service provider.  

Liam Gordon
Executive General Manager Projects

As Executive General Manager Projects, Liam is accountable for the operational, commercial and strategic 

management and performance of Queensland Rail’s project delivery, ensuring high service standards are upheld and 

supported by effi  cient and eff ective resource utilisation, appropriate engineering standards and safety performance. 

He also leads teams that manage the Transport Services Contract with the state. Prior to his appointment with 

Queensland Rail, Liam was Deputy Under Treasurer at Queensland Treasury where he was responsible for the 

economics functions of the department, including macroeconomic forecasting, microeconomic policy and 

Government Owned Corporations oversight. Prior to that, Liam had spent more than 10 years working in the 

infrastructure sector within Queensland Treasury.

Executive Leadership Team (cont)
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Tim Ripper
Executive General Manager Network

Tim has been in the rail industry for over 30 years, both in Australia and Hong Kong. During this time he has performed 

a variety of roles in design, construction, maintenance, asset management and more recently as a business leader and 

network manager. In his current role as Executive General Manager Network, Tim is responsible for the operational and 

strategic management of the network. His team ensures Queensland Rail provides a safe and reliable network for the 

people of Queensland, and delivers progressive commercial outcomes for the government and Queensland Rail.

Martin Ryan
Executive General Manager Travel and Tourism

Martin has recently been responsible for ensuring the quality, movement and delivery of train services, acting as 

Chief Operating Offi  cer from the end of December 2016 until June 2017. In this role, Martin helped implement the 

Commission of Inquiry recommendations and put Queensland Rail on the path to ‘Fixing the trains’. Martin has now 

moved back to his substantive position as Executive General Manager of Travel and Tourism where he is responsible for 

Queensland Rail’s long distance and tourist train operations.

Executive Leadership Team (cont)
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Corporate governance
Queensland Rail is committed to ensuring that its systems, procedures and practices refl ect the highest 

standards of corporate governance. Processes have been established to ensure that Queensland Rail’s 

corporate governance practices are reviewed regularly and are continually refi ned in accordance with its 

enterprise governance framework.

Guidelines

The responsible Ministers have requested that while Queensland Rail is no 

longer a government owned corporation, Queensland Rail continue to apply 

the Corporate Governance Guidelines for Government Owned Corporations, 

issued by the Queensland Government.

The guidelines reference the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) Corporate 

Governance Principles and Recommendations and they provide the 

framework for government owned corporations to develop, implement, 

review and report on their corporate governance arrangements.

An overview of existing corporate governance practices in line with the above 

guidelines is set out below.

Corporate Governance Statement 2016-17

Principle 1 – Foundations for management and oversight

The roles and responsibilities of the Board and individual members are 

defi ned in the Board Charter. These roles and responsibilities are reviewed by 

the Board annually and a copy of the charter is available at 

queenslandrail.com.au

In accordance with section 15 of the QRTA Act the Board’s specifi c functions 

include:

• Deciding the strategies and the operational, administrative and fi nancial 

policies of Queensland Rail

• Ensuring Queensland Rail performs its functions and exercises its powers 

in a proper, eff ective and effi  cient way

• Ensuring that, so far as is practicable, Queensland Rail acts under, and 

achieves the objects in its strategic and operational plans

• Accounting to the responsible Ministers, as required under the QRTA Act, 

for the performance of Queensland Rail;

• Reviewing the performance of the Chief Executive Offi  cer on an annual 

basis.

In exercising its functions and powers, the Board’s key responsibilities include:

• Business strategy and expenditure

• Delegation of authority to senior executive

• Relations with responsible Ministers and key stakeholders

• Financial matters and risk management

• Ethics, governance and policy

• Senior executive appointments.

The Board has delegated responsibility for the day-to-day operation of 

Queensland Rail to the CEO including the implementation and delivery of 

the Board’s strategic direction. The CEO is supported by the senior executive 

team with management responsibilities clearly defi ned and documented 

through formal position descriptions, performance plans and the Board 

approved Authorities, Approvals and Accountabilities Policy.

Newly appointed members are taken through a formal induction process 

to provide them with an overview of business operations, strategies and 

information in relation to the Board and committee functions. The induction 

process assists the members to understand their roles and responsibilities 

within Queensland Rail and includes an overview of key corporate 

expectations, existing governance arrangements and the culture and values 

of the organisation. Induction materials and individual briefi ngs were 

provided to incoming members. A formal group induction session was not 

held given the high level of Board activity during the year.  

Members are issued with a comprehensive Board handbook that details 

Queensland Rail and Board operational information, governance 

requirements and policies. The Board handbook assists with the induction 

process and also supports existing members with their ongoing governance 

responsibilities. The handbook is reviewed and updated annually.

Performance evaluations for the CEO and senior executives are carried out 

each fi nancial year in accordance with Queensland Rail’s remuneration 

framework and the Board approved Performance Payment Policy: Chief and 

Senior Executives. The performance evaluation for the CEO is conducted 

by the Board and is based on the achievement of agreed Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs), which are set annually by the Board and are linked to the 

strategic and operational objectives of Queensland Rail. The performance 

evaluation for senior executives is carried out in accordance with the 

same process based on the achievement of agreed KPIs. The evaluation is 

conducted by the CEO and the Board.

The outcome of annual performance evaluations for the CEO and senior 

executives are provided to responsible Ministers in accordance with the 

Policy for Government Owned Corporation Chief and Senior Executives 

Employment Arrangements.

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value

All members of the Board, including the Chair, are non-executive members. 

Queensland Rail Board members are appointed by the responsible Ministers 

in accordance with the QRTA Act. As such, the size and composition of the 

Board is determined by the responsible Ministers. 

The Board considers that all Board members who held offi  ce during the year 

are independent as defi ned under the ASX Corporate Governance Principles 

and Recommendations. In assessing the ongoing independence of each 

member, the Board considers the assessment criteria outlined in the ASX 

recommendations. Materiality in relation to independence is considered on a 

case-by-case basis with reference to each member’s individual circumstances.

Board members are required to keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, 

of any business interests and other directorship and employment roles that 

may confl ict with those of Queensland Rail.

In circumstances where a confl ict is believed to exist, the member concerned 

does not take part in any decision or consideration of the issue. In addition, 

the member will not receive copies of the relevant Board papers. Members 

must notify the Board via the Company Secretary of changes to business 

interests and appointments which could potentially confl ict with their role as 

Board member for Queensland Rail.
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Details of the current Board members’ experience and expertise are 

disclosed in this annual report as is information on attendance at Board 

and committee meetings. Information in relation to composition of the 

Board and terms of appointment for all members who held offi  ce during the 

fi nancial year is set out on pages 43-45 of the Annual Report 2016-17 and 

pages 29-30 of the Financial Report 2016-17.

A process is in place whereby members, either collectively or individually, may 

seek independent professional advice where it is considered necessary to fulfi l 

their duties and responsibilities. This is done at Queensland Rail’s expense.  A 

member wishing to seek such advice must fi rst obtain the approval from the 

Chair.

Members are encouraged to further their knowledge through participation 

in industry, governance and government forums and attend seminars 

hosted by the Australian Institute of Company Directors, Governance 

Institute of Australia and other peak professional bodies. In addition to 

peer review, interaction and networking with other directors and industry 

leaders, Queensland Rail Board members participate in Queensland Rail 

leadership forums and actively engage with Queensland Rail employees and 

visit Queensland Rail operations to gain an understanding of operational 

employee requirements, challenges and issues.

The ongoing provision of timely and relevant information to the Board 

is of critical importance in enabling the Board to eff ectively discharge its 

obligations in accordance with the requirements of the QRTA Act. The 

structure, format and content of Board agendas and Board papers presented 

to Board members for consideration and approval, along with Board paper 

quality and timeliness, is reviewed on an ongoing basis with a formal review 

annually.

The Board reviews its own performance and that of the committees of 

the Board on a regular basis to ensure they are working eff ectively.  The 

Board participates in regular Board member-only sessions that provide an 

opportunity for the Board members to review and analyse their current 

performance as a Board and discuss any issues that may exist.

A formal Board performance evaluation is conducted on an annual basis 

to achieve and maintain corporate governance best practice and continual 

improvement. An independent consultant is engaged to assist with the 

evaluation every second year, with the latest independent review undertaken 

during 2015-16.

The performance evaluation process generally includes the evaluation of the 

Board as a whole, the chair and the eff ectiveness of the Board committees.  

The process is undertaken through a formal questionnaire completed by each 

member and members of the senior executive team. The review considers a 

range of issues including Board role, strategy, monitoring performance, risk 

and compliance oversight, stakeholder communication, Board structure and 

processes. The independent Board evaluation for 2015-16 was completed in 

June 2016 with written advice of the outcome of the evaluation provided to 

responsible Ministers in August 2016. An internal Board evaluation for 

2016-17 is scheduled to be undertaken later in the year.

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making

Queensland Rail has well established policies, procedures and practices that 

seek to promote ethical standards of behaviour and a culture of compliance 

that is risk aware and embraces good governance practices in accordance 

with corporate, legal and community obligations.

These expected standards of integrity, honesty and accountability are 

refl ected in the formal Code of Conduct, which applies to all Board members, 

employees, consultants and contractors and is aligned with the organisation’s 

strategic objectives. The Code of Conduct is supported by other policy related 

documents in relation to ethics, privacy, dealing with confl icts of interest, 

trading in securities and offi  cial misconduct. 

While as a statutory authority, Queensland Rail does not issue securities, the 

organisation has established standards and procedures that set out the legal 

duties that apply to members and employees in relation to the potential 

misuse of information including the insider trading prohibition under the 

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Ongoing training in relation to ethical business practices is provided by the 

organisation and the Queensland Rail Code of Conduct also forms part of the 

induction process for new employees, consultants and contractors. A copy of 

the Code of Conduct is available on the Queensland Rail website.

Queensland Rail also has in place related processes and policy documents 

setting out the requirements of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2010 

(Cth), which facilitates disclosure of public interest information and provides 

protection for those who make public disclosures.

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in fi nancial reporting

The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee that reviews the 

integrity of Queensland Rail’s fi nancial reporting systems. The committee is 

governed by its own charter, which is approved by the Board and reviewed 

annually. A copy of the Audit and Risk Committee charter is available on the 

Queensland Rail website. The committee assists the Board by reviewing and 

monitoring assurance activities over business operations, the eff ectiveness of 

internal controls, regulatory reporting, fi nancial risks, compliance issues and 

enterprise risk management frameworks. The committee is responsible for 

oversight and monitoring both internal and external audit functions.

The role of the chair of the committee is not held by the Chairman of the 

Board and all committee members are independent non-executive members. 

Membership of the committee and details of attendance at meetings is 

disclosed on pages 43-44 of the Annual and Financial Report 2016-17.

The CEO and CFO certify in writing that the Queensland Rail fi nancial 

report represents a true and fair view of Queensland Rail’s fi nancial position 

and performance, and that it has been prepared in accordance with the 

appropriate Australian Accounting Standards, Statement of Accounting 

Concepts, Interpretations and Framework for the Preparation and 

Presentation of Financial Statements in all material respects.

Queensland Rail’s internal audit function provides independent assurance 

to key stakeholders including the Audit and Risk Committee, CEO and senior 

executives regarding the adequacy and eff ectiveness of the organisation’s 

system of internal controls, risk management procedures and governance 

processes throughout the organisation.

Corporate governance (cont)
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Corporate governance (cont)

To maintain independence the internal audit function is governed by the 

Queensland Rail internal audit charter which is approved by the Audit and 

Risk Committee.

Queensland Rail has a detailed internal audit plan that is managed by the 

Senior Manager Internal Audit and General Counsel and Executive General 

Manager Governance. The risk based internal audit plan is developed 

through extensive internal and external consultation and a review of the 

organisation’s risk register. This plan is ultimately approved and monitored 

by the Audit and Risk Committee through regular reporting provided by the 

Senior Manager Internal Audit. 

In addition to the annual internal audit plan the internal audit function 

completes management request audits throughout the year.

In accordance with the Auditor-General Act 2009 (Qld), the external audit 

function of Queensland Rail is performed by the Queensland Audit Offi  ce. 

The Audit and Risk Committee monitors the performance of the external 

auditors on an annual basis.

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure

Queensland Rail has established communication protocols and standards 

in relation to the disclosure of public information and regularly assesses the 

information needs of all stakeholders to ensure that they continue to be 

informed about activities in a timely and accurate manner.

In addition, the organisation has a dedicated Government and Community 

Relations team to assist with management of government and regulatory 

relationships and the co-ordination of information and reporting requests.

Regular communications are initiated with key stakeholders including 

responsible Ministers and government representatives. The Chair and CEO 

meet with responsible Ministers and/or their representatives on a regular 

basis. Queensland Rail management also meets with representatives of 

the responsible Ministers after each Board meeting to provide an update 

on the agenda items considered and discuss any relevant governance 

matters. Information needs of these stakeholders are also discussed at 

Board meetings. As required by the QRTA Act, detailed quarterly reports 

are provided to responsible Ministers and their representatives, as well 

as individual ministerial briefi ngs on specifi c issues. These reports include 

information regarding fi nancial performance, updates on major capital 

programs, key operational matters, risk management and governance issues 

as well as information required to be given in accordance with Queensland 

Rail’s operational and strategic plans.

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders

Queensland Rail respects the rights of responsible Ministers as the ultimate 

owners of the business. The Board and senior executives of Queensland Rail 

engage with responsible Ministers and their representatives on a regular 

basis. As at 30 June 2017, Queensland Rail’s responsible Ministers were 

the Honourable Jackie Trad MP, Deputy Premier, Minister for Transport and 

Minister for Infrastructure and Planning;  and the Honourable Curtis Pitt MP, 

Treasurer, Minister for Trade and Investment. Queensland Rail is committed 

to ensuring that responsible Ministers and their representatives are provided 

with information to make informed assessments of Queensland Rail’s 

operational and fi nancial performance and position.

Queensland Rail prepares an operational plan and strategic plan for 

responsible Ministers’ approval in accordance with the QRTA Act. The 

operational plan and strategic plan are formal performance contracts 

between Queensland Rail and the responsible Ministers detailing proposed 

undertakings and target performance for the year ahead.

In line with the requirements of the QRTA Act, responsible Ministers are 

advised in a timely manner of all issues likely to have a signifi cant fi nancial, 

operating, employee, community or environmental impact including 

those matters that may prevent or signifi cantly aff ect achievement of the 

performance objectives outlined in the operational plan.

Approval of responsible Ministers is sought for major investments and 

expenditure outlays, as well as Queensland Rail’s entry into signifi cant supply 

or customer contracts in accordance with agreed Investment Guidelines.

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk

Queensland Rail recognises that eff ective risk management and compliance 

frameworks are a key element of an organisation’s corporate governance 

processes. The Board has approved a Risk Management Policy and 

associated framework for identifying, assessing and managing Queensland 

Rail’s strategic, operational, fi nancial and reputation risks.

The objectives of the policy are to:

• Maintain an integrated, fi t for purpose, leading practice risk management 

framework which facilitates the eff ective management of risks and also 

provides assurance that risks are being eff ectively managed and controls 

are eff ective

• Ensure the risk management system, together with associated risk tools, 

allow for the consistent and reliable application of the risk management 

framework

• Ensure that there are clearly defi ned roles and responsibilities for 

managing risk within Queensland Rail

• Ensure that risk management related roles and adequate resources are 

allocated throughout the business to meet the requirements of the Risk 

Management Policy

• Ensure that risk management is an integral part of Queensland Rail 

decision making and business planning

• Document all risks, risk assessments and related controls into risk registers 

in an agreed business system

• Based on the Board’s approved risk appetite, apply risk tolerance levels to 

ensure the appropriate management and reporting of risk

• Provide risk management training and support to employees to ensure 

education and awareness of risk management requirements to improve 

the knowledge, skills and profi ciency of risk practitioners, risk champions 

and others within the organisation

• Assess and continuously improve the eff ectiveness of the risk 

management framework and related processes and controls via on-going 

monitoring,  periodic reviews, communication and consultation 

• Promote a culture of accountability and responsibility for risk 

management by including risk related performance measures in 

individual performance and development plans.
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The approach defi ned within the Risk Management Policy is consistent 

with the Australian and New Zealand risk management standards (ISO 

31000:2009). Supporting the policy is a framework prepared to guide the 

various business functions in addressing their particular risks through a 

structured risk management approach. The framework is designed to ensure 

risks are regularly identifi ed, assessed, monitored and reported to the Board 

on a periodic basis, along with appropriate risk mitigation and management 

plans.

The Board evaluates reported risks reaching a defi ned enterprise risk 

tolerance level and actively monitors these risks and associated controls, 

including any additional risk mitigation treatments that are proposed. 

Assurance activities are undertaken to ensure that the controls are operating 

eff ectively.

The Board has charged management with the responsibility for managing 

risk within the organisation and the implementation of mitigation measures, 

under the direction of the CEO and supported by senior executives. The group 

risk management function, led by the General Manager, Risk, Compliance 

and Insurance and General Counsel and Executive General Manager 

Governance has been established to facilitate the process by providing 

a centralised role in advising the various business functions on executing 

risk management and mitigation strategies, as well as consolidating risk 

reporting to senior executives and the Board.

The CEO and CFO have declared in writing to the Board that Queensland 

Rail’s risk management and control system is operating effi  ciently, eff ectively 

and economically in all material respects based on representations by 

management.

Queensland Rail has established an appropriate fraud control framework for 

the ongoing monitoring and co-ordination of fraud control activities. The 

framework is supported by the Code of Conduct and associated governance 

principles, standards and procedures that outline employee obligations in 

relation to ethical behaviour and the process for reporting, recording and 

investigating allegations of fraud.

A dedicated ethics hotline has been established to enable employees to 

report any concerns regarding unethical conduct, breaches of the law and 

suspected fraud or corrupt conduct. A dedicated Crime and Corruption 

Commission (CCC) Liaison Offi  cer manages the obligations under the Crime 

and Corruption Act 2001 (Qld) in relation to notifi cation of suspected corrupt 

conduct to the CCC.

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The Board has established a People and Safety Committee that, among 

other things, oversees and monitors Queensland Rail’s remuneration 

framework. The committee is governed by its own charter, which is 

approved by the Board and reviewed annually. A copy of the People and 

Safety Committee charter is available on the Queensland Rail website. The 

committee assists the Board in the eff ective discharge of its governance 

and oversight responsibilities relating to human resource and safety 

practices. It achieves this, in part, by reviewing, overseeing and providing 

recommendations on the recruitment, termination, retention, succession 

planning and annual remuneration and performance review of the CEO and 

senior executives including the establishment of appropriate performance 

measures.

Membership of the committee and details of attendance at meetings 

is disclosed on page 44 of the Annual and Financial Report 2016-17. 

Queensland Rail recognises that the achievement of its corporate objectives 

is dependent on the eff orts of its people and has established remuneration 

policies, procedures and frameworks designed to attract and retain high 

calibre employees and to align individual and team eff orts to agreed KPIs 

linked to the operational and strategic plans of the organisation.

The senior executive remuneration arrangements are subject to approval 

or endorsement by the Board in accordance with the Policy for Government 

Owned Corporation Chief and Senior Executive Employment Arrangements. 

Remuneration for Board members is established by the responsible Ministers 

in accordance with the QRTA Act.

Details of the nature and amount of payments to each Queensland Rail 

Board member and specifi ed Queensland Rail senior executives are set out in 

the Annual and Financial Report 2016-17.

Government policies and guidelines

Queensland Rail complies with relevant government policies and guidelines 

in accordance with the requirements of the responsible Ministers.

Corporate governance (cont)
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Board meetings

The Board held 19 meetings during the fi nancial year. Typically, at Board 

meetings, the agenda will include the following:

• Disclosure of member interests

• Minutes of the previous meeting and any outstanding issues raised by 

members at previous meetings

• CEO and CFO reports

• Ongoing strategic business improvement

• Reports on major projects and current business issues

• Transactions requiring Board approval in accordance with the delegations 

framework

• Updates from committee chairs on matters considered at committee 

meetings

• The minutes of previous committee meetings

• Correspondence, executed contracts and powers of attorney register 

review.

A private session involving only non-executive Board members is held at 

the beginning of each Board meeting and is chaired by the Chair. The CEO, 

CFO, General Counsel and Company Secretary are also present at all Board 

meetings. Senior executives attend Board meetings when an issue under 

their area of responsibility is being considered or as otherwise requested 

by the Board. Member attendance at 2016-17 Board meetings is detailed 

below:

1 Appointed as Chair on 7 February 2017

2 Ceased to be a Board Member on 30 September 2016

3 Appointed to the Board on 1 October 2016

4 Appointed to the Board on 1 October 2016

5 Appointed as Interim Chair on 28 October 2016; 

ceased to be a Board Member on 6 February 2017

6 Ceased to be a Board Member on 27 October 2016

7 Ceased to be a Board Member on 10 March 2017

8 Appointed to the Board on 1 October 2016

Board committees

The Board has established three standing committees to assist with meeting 

its responsibilities: the Audit and Risk Committee, the People and Safety 

Committee, and the Major Projects and Procurement Committee. Each of 

these committees is governed by its own charter.

During the year, a Response and Recovery Steering Committee was 

established by the Board on a temporary basis to oversee and monitor 

response and recovery activities under the ‘Fixing the trains’ plan to restore 

frontline services and deliver the interim timetable. The committee operated 

between November 2016 and February 2017 in accordance with an 

approved charter.

The membership of each Board committee is made up of a minimum of 

three members from the Board. The CEO and senior executives attend 

meetings at the discretion of the committee.

An annual evaluation of committee performance forms part of the Board’s 

overall performance review. 

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee is a Board committee created to assist 

the Board in the eff ective discharge of its governance and oversight 

responsibilities relating to the fi nancial reporting and risk management of 

Queensland Rail.

The committee oversees and monitors the preparation of fi nancial 

statements, internal control structures, compliance and risk management 

frameworks and the internal and external audit functions of Queensland Rail.

The committee’s key responsibilities include:

• The integrity of Queensland Rail’s fi nancial reporting and disclosure 

procedures and processes

• Review of signifi cant accounting policies and alternative treatments 

available

• The eff ectiveness of Queensland Rail’s systems of accounting and internal 

controls

• The scope of Queensland Rail’s internal audit and external audit programs 

and any material issues arising from these audits

• The eff ectiveness of the processes and assurance activities used by 

management to monitor and ensure Queensland Rail’s compliance with 

laws, regulations, ethical guidelines and obligations for external reporting 

of fi nancial information

• Review of risk mitigation policies and associated risk assessment 

documentation adopted by Queensland Rail

• Evaluating the eff ectiveness of risk management protocols and 

frameworks used to implement Queensland Rail’s risk management 

policies, procedures and documentation

• Review and monitor key risk exposures, control mitigations and residual 

risks of Queensland Rail including the annual insurance program

• Evaluating the eff ectiveness of the risk management and control 

structures in place to identify and monitor Queensland Rail’s compliance 

with applicable laws, regulations and governance obligations

• Evaluating the performance and independence of the Internal Audit 

function.

Corporate governance (cont)

Board Member Attended Meetings Eligible 
to Attend

Phillip Strachan (Chair)1 5 5

Aivars Blums2 3 3

Stephen Cantwell3 14 16

Jemina Dunn4 15 16

Nicole Hollows5 9 9

Michael Klug6 4 4

David Marchant 19 19

John Mickel7 15 15

Renaye Peters8 16 16

Paul Wallis 18 19
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Corporate governance (cont)

Mr David Marchant is the current Committee Chair. Committee member 

attendance at 2016-17 Audit and Risk Committee meetings is detailed 

below:

1Appointed as Committee Chair 27 October 2016

2Ceased to be Committee Chair 30 September 2016

3Appointed as Committee Member 27 October 2016

4Appointed as Committee Member 18 November 2016;

ceased to be a Committee Member on 6 February 2017

5Ceased to be a Committee Member 27 October 2016

6Appointed as Committee Member 27 October 2016

7Appointed as Committee Member 13 February 2017

8Appointed as Committee Member 13 February 2017

People and Safety Committee

The People and Safety Committee is a Board committee created to assist 

the Board in the eff ective discharge of its governance and oversight 

responsibilities relating to the human resources and safety practices of 

Queensland Rail.

The committee oversees and monitors the remuneration and performance 

framework for Queensland Rail’s senior executives and other employees 

the development of human resources policies and practices to enhance 

employee engagement and workforce productivity and performance. The 

committee also provides strategic direction and oversight of Queensland 

Rail’s safety policies, frameworks and practices.

The committee’s key responsibilities include:

• The appointment and termination of the CEO and senior executives 

(direct reports to CEO)

• The annual remuneration and performance review of the CEO and senior 

executives including the establishment of appropriate performance 

measures and incentive targets

• The development and review of human resource policies and practices 

which enhance organisational performance, workforce productivity, 

leadership and succession planning in line with Queensland Rail’s 

expected values and behaviours

• The adequacy and eff ectiveness of Queensland Rail’s code of conduct, 

remuneration, learning and development and industrial relations 

strategies and plans

• Employee and external stakeholder engagement (including responsible 

Ministers, government and community) and external corporate 

communications strategies and plans

• Development and review of policies, frameworks and practices relating to 

the security and safety of Queensland Rail’s network and trains

• Reviewing and monitoring frameworks and practices dealing with the 

health, safety and welfare of Queensland Rail’s customers, employees and 

the public

• The adequacy and eff ectiveness of Queensland Rail’s compliance systems 

with relevant safety legislation, regulations, engineering standards and 

accreditation requirements

• Providing direction and oversight of safety related risks, controls and 

assurance processes.

Mr Stephen Cantwell is the current Chair of the committee. Committee 

member attendance at  2016-17 People and Safety Committee meetings is 

detailed below:

1 Appointed as Committee Chair 22 March 2017

2 Appointed as Committee Member 27 October 2016

3 Ceased to be a Committee Member 27 October 2016

4 Ceased to be a Committee Chair 10 March 2017

5 Appointed as Committee Member 13 February 2017

6 Ceased to be a Committee member 26 November 2016

Major Projects and Procurement Committee

The Major Projects and Procurement Committee is a Board committee 

created to assist the Board in the eff ective discharge of its governance 

and oversight responsibilities relating to the delivery of major projects and 

procurement decisions within Queensland Rail.

The committee’s key responsibilities include:

• Evaluating and endorsing Queensland Rail’s major project proposals and 

delivery of approved capital investment program and funding to ensure 

alignment with Queensland Rail’s approved operational and strategic 

plans

• Ensuring that major project implementation is in a manner consistent 

with Queensland Rail’s strategy and the expectations of responsible 

Ministers

• Oversight of project management frameworks to ensure appropriate 

governance structures, capabilities and resources are in place for the 

effi  cient and cost eff ective delivery of projects

Board Member Attended Meetings Eligible 
to Attend

David Marchant (Chair)1 4 4

Aivars Blums2 1 1

Stephen Cantwell3 3 3

Nicole Hollows4 0 1

Michael Klug5 1 1

Renaye Peters6 3 3

Phillip Strachan7 1 2

Paul Wallis8 1 2

Board Member Attended Meetings Eligible 
to Attend

Stephen Cantwell (Chair)1 3 3

Jemina Dunn2 1 3

Michael Klug3 1 1

David Marchant 4 4

John Mickel4 3 3

Phillip Strachan5 1 2

Paul Wallis6 1 1
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• Reviewing major project plans as they relate to capital works, operations, 

asset replacement and maintenance to achieve prudent and effi  cient 

project delivery within budget and agreed timeframes

• Reviewing the adequacy and eff ectiveness of internal controls and risks as 

they relate to major projects, procurement and investment considerations

• Oversight of tender methodologies and appropriate probity processes 

to ensure the ethical procurement of goods and services to ensure 

compliance with the Queensland Rail and State Government Procurement 

Policy

• Ensuring strategic procurement objectives are developed and 

implemented through a procurement strategy to ensure that major 

investment decisions are formulated strategically to enable prudent and 

effi  cient outcomes through market engagement

• Development of strategic business initiatives to ensure procurement 

policies, procedures and frameworks are consistent with the strategic 

planning and performance objectives of Queensland Rail

• Evaluating and monitoring procurement performance to ensure 

alignment with Queensland Rail’s strategic objectives relating to service 

quality, effi  ciency, profi tability and growth.

Mr Paul Wallis is the current chair of the committee. Committee member 

attendance at 2016-17 Major Projects and Procurement Committee 

meetings is detailed below:

 1 Ceased to be a Committee Member 30 September 2016

2 Appointed as a Committee Member 27 October 2016

3 Appointed as a Committee Member 26 November 2016; 

ceased to be a Committee Member 6 February 2017

4 Ceased to be a Committee Member 27 October 2016

5 Ceased to be a Committee Member 10 March 2017

6 Appointed as a Committee Member 13 February 2017

7 Appointed as a Committee Member 13 February 2017

Response and Recovery Steering Committee 

The Response and Recovery Steering Committee was established in 

November 2016 to assist the Board to oversee and monitor the development 

and implementation of the government’s ‘Fixing the trains’ plan to restore 

frontline services and deliver the interim timetable.

The committee’s key responsibilities include:

• Provide strategic oversight, direction and guidance to the Queensland 

Rail Response and Recovery Project Leadership Group (RRPLG) in relation 

to the delivery and implementation of the RRPLG’s approved program of 

works to ensure the progress and achievement of key deliverables aligns 

with the expectations of the Board and responsible Ministers

• Review and approve the program of works to be undertaken by the RRPLG 

and any associated budget

• Independently investigate applicable systems and processes in relation 

to, but not limited to; operational planning and scheduling, resource 

planning and allocation, training, safety and industrial relations 

arrangements

• Monitor and evaluate risk identifi cation and risk management by the 

RRPLG

• Provide recommendations to the Board regarding strategic reforms to 

address the underlying causes of the failed implementation of the 4 

October 2016 timetable.

Following release of the COI Report and establishment of the CRU, the 

existing committee structure was reviewed by the Board to align with the 

revised governance arrangements.  As a consequence, the Response and 

Recovery Steering committee was discontinued in February 2017, with 

activities arising from the COI recommendations now reported by the RRPLG 

direct to the Board, via the CEO and CRU.

Ms Peters was appointed chair of the committee. Committee member 

attendance at 2016-17 Response and Recovery Steering Committee 

meetings is detailed below. 

1 Appointed as Committee Chair 26 November 2016; 

ceased as a Committee Member 13 February 2017

2 Appointed as a Committee Member 26 November 2016;

ceased as a Committee Member 13 February 2017

3 Appointed as a Committee Member 26 November 2016;

ceased as a Committee Member 13 February 2017

Corporate governance (cont)

Board Member Attended Meetings Eligible 
to Attend

Paul Wallis (Chair) 4 4

Aviars Blums1 1 1

Jemina Dunn2 2 2

Nicole Hollows3 0 1

Michael Klug4 2 2

John Mickel5 2 3

Renaye Peters6 1 1

Phillip Strachan7 1 1

Board Member Attended Meetings Eligible 
to Attend

Renaye Peters (Chair)1 5 5

Stephen Cantwell2 5 5

Nicole Hollows3 5 5
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Notifi cations by Responsible Ministers

1. Yeppoon Freehold Property

By letter dated 1 June 2017, pursuant to section 54 of the QRTA Act, the 

responsible Ministers directed Queensland Rail to do all things necessary to 

transfer the asset, identifi ed as Lot 3 on SP254313, from Queensland Rail’s 

equity to Economic Development Queensland in freehold. 

The transfer is recorded as an equity adjustment using the carrying value of 

the asset at the date of transfer, in line with Australian Accounting Standards 

Board Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned 

Public Sector Entities.’

2. Queensland Rail dividends

By the letter dated 30 June 2017, pursuant to section 56(2) of the QRTA Act, 

the responsible Ministers directed Queensland Rail pay a dividend equal to 

100 per cent of Queensland Rail Group’s Net Profi t after Tax (NPAT) for the 

2016-17 period. The dividend is to be paid to the Consolidated Fund no later 

than 31 December 2017.

Information systems and record keeping

Managing Queensland Rail’s information and performing appropriate record 

keeping functions are integral to risk mitigation. The organisation has a 

requirement to meet legislative and statutory obligations regarding the 

creation, management, custodianship and disposal of our information assets.

Initiatives throughout 2016-17 included:

• Completed the upgrade of the electronic document and records 

management system to the latest supported version

• Completed the introduction of digital personnel fi les

• Maintaining Payment Card Industry Compliance

• Descriptive data capture of physical record objects in archival storage.

Queensland Rail has commenced an enterprise wide initiative to develop 

a corporate information management strategy. This strategy will provide 

a pathway to further enhance Queensland Rail’s information maturity and 

manage its information governance challenges by ensuring:

• An enterprise-wide risk-based approach to information management is 

applied

• Information management is viewed as a business requirement and 

enabler

• Roles, responsibilities and segregation of duties are clearly defi ned

• Adequate and appropriate resources are committed to the task

• Staff  are aware and trained in how to manage information in their work 

context

• Information management is planned, managed, measurable, and 

measured.

• Information management is reviewed, assured and audited.

Open data

Information relating to consultancies, overseas travel and Queensland 

Languages Services Policy is published through the Queensland Government 

Open Data website (https://data.qld.gov.au).

Corporate Entertainment and Hospitality

There were two events related to corporate entertainment and hospitality 

that exceeded $5000 during the year. They were:

• Hosting 12 rail companies for the International Suburban Rail 

Benchmarking Group Conference over three days in May 2017 - $16,309

• Australia Day 2017 customer barbecue event to encourage locals to visit 

and promote the Kuranda Scenic Railway - $6900.

Corporate governance (cont)
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Summary of the FY2016-17 Operational Plan

The Operational Plan is the formal statement of Queensland Rail’s strategic 

direction, including objectives, strategies and performance outcomes for 

2016-17 and represents the performance agreement between the Board of 

Queensland Rail and responsible Ministers departments. The Operational 

Plan is consistent with Queensland Rail’s Strategic Plan and refl ects the 

strategic activity in year one of this planning horizon.

The Annual Report provides a summary of Queensland Rail’s performance 

outcomes against the 2016-17 Operational Plan relating to the delivery of 

strategic and operational objectives.

Queensland Rail measures performance against these objectives to focus 

eff orts upon achieving its strategy. Key performance indicator measures 

and related targets were identifi ed within the Operational Plan to track the 

success of strategies during this fi nancial year. Key components of the 

2016-17 Operational Plan are summarised below.

Performance Monitoring

The 2016-17 Operational Plan contains a framework for performance 

monitoring that ensures the Queensland Rail Board is accountable to its 

responsible Ministers for Queensland Rail’s performance. This framework 

enables Queensland Rail to report on a number of mandatory fi nancial and 

non-fi nancial performance indicators to present a balanced perspective 

on Queensland Rail’s overall performance. Queensland Rail reports to its 

responsible Ministers on a quarterly basis in relation to performance against 

each of its Operational Plan KPIs.

Government Revenues and Funding

The Operational Plan refl ects funding under the Transport Service Contract 

agreement for:

• Citytrain

• Travel and Tourism 

• Regional Network (including Freight). 

The 2016-17 Operational Plan highlights Queensland Rail’s focus on Citytrain 

by delivering a safe, effi  cient, high performing, value for money commuter 

rail service through:

• Sustaining operational performance

• Optimising fi nancial performance

• Delivering improved customer experiences 

• Integrating the Redcliff e Peninsula line and NGR into the Citytrain service 

model 

• Improving service delivery through technology.

Queensland Rail is also focussed upon optimising regional network and 

freight outcomes through:

• Improving business development 

• Eestablishing commercial contracts and access agreements

• Achieving asset optimisation and targeted capital investment. 

The 2016-17 Operational Plan also highlights Queensland Rail’s focus on 

Travel and Tourism through the provision of safe, reliable long distance 

passenger and tourism services that connect regional centres and support 

local economies and jobs. 

Employment and Industrial Relations

The Operational Plan includes an Employment and Industrial Relations Plan 

(E&IR Plan), which aligns all related initiatives with the organisation’s values 

and the Government Owned Corporations – Wages and Industrial Relations 

Policy 2015. The objective of Queensland Rail’s E&IR philosophy is:

• To support the achievement of the Queensland Rail vision

• Tto build a constructive organisational culture which provides 

opportunities for our people to develop, lead, make a diff erence and 

perform

• To develop workplace relations instruments (agreements and policies) 

and positive relationships that enable a culture of fairness, employee 

engagement and high performance.

Modifi cations to the Operational Plan

The QRTA Act 2013 (Qld) requires that Queensland Rail’s Annual Report 

include particulars of any direction given to Queensland Rail to modify its 

Operational Plan during the relevant year. Queensland Rail did not modify its 

Operational Plan during this fi nancial year. 
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Compliance checklist

Summary of Requirement Basis for requirement Annual report reference

Letter of Compliance
• A letter of compliance from the  

accountable offi  cer or statutory body 

to the relevant Minister/s

ARRs – section 7 Page 3

Accessibility • Table of contents

• Glossary

ARRs – section 9.1 Page 4

Pages 49-50

• Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 Page 2

• Interpreter service statement Queensland Government Language Services 

Policy 

ARRs – section 9.3

Page 2

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968

ARRs – section 9.4

Page 2

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information Licensing

ARRs – section 9.5

N/A

General information • Introductory Information ARRs – section 10.1 Page 5

• Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 Pages 2, 5, 8-9

• Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 Pages 5, 13, 17, 29, 38-46

Non-fi nancial performance •  Government’s objectives for the 

community
ARRs – section 11.1

Pages 5, 11-12, 21-22 , 

24-27 

•  Other whole-of-government plans / 

specifi c initiatives

ARRs – section 12.2 Pages 8-9, 11-12

•  Agency objectives and performance 

indicators

ARRs – section 12.3 Pages 5, 8-9, 13, 17-29, 46  

•  Agency service areas and service 

standards

ARRs – section 11.4 Pages 11, 46

Financial performance • Summary of fi nancial performance ARRs – section 12.1 Pages 14-15, 52-103

Governance – management 
and structure

• Organisational structure ARRs – section 13.1 Pages 30-31

• Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 Pages 32-37

• Government bodies 

(statutory bodies and other entities)
ARRs – section 13.3 Page 2

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 (Qld) Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

ARRs – section 13.4

N/A

• Queensland public service values ARRs – section 13.5 Pages 5-9, 17-29
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Summary of Requirement Basis for requirement Annual report reference

Governance – 
risk management and 
accountability

• Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 Pages 38-46

• Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 Pages 30, 39-41

• Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 Pages 39-41

• External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 Pages 11-12, 17, 27, 41 

• Information systems and 

recordkeeping
ARRs – section 14.5 Page 45

Governance – 
human resources

• Workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 Pages 19, 41, 46

•  Early retirement, redundancy and 

retrenchment

Directive No.11/12 Early Retirement, 

Redundancy and Retrenchment 

Directive No.16/16 Early Retirement, 

Redundancy and Retrenchment 

(from 20 May 2016) 

ARRs – section 15.2

N/A

Open Data

• Statement advising publication of 

information
ARRs – section 16 Page 45

• Consultancies ARRs – section 33.1 Page 45

• Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 Page 45

• Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 Page 2

Financial statements • Certifi cation of fi nancial statements FAA – section 62

FPMS – sections 42, 43 and 50

ARRs – section 17.1

See Financial Report 

attached – 

Pages  1-50

• Independent Auditor’s Report FAA – section 62

FPMS – section 50

ARRs – section 17.2

See Financial Report 

attached – 

Pages 47-50

FAA  Financial Accountability Act 2009 (Qld)

FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009

ARRs Annual Report requirements for Queensland Government Agencies

Compliance checklist (cont)
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Glossary

Citytrain network
A collective term for the tracks, stations, trains and infrastructure providing 

train services in south-east Queensland bounded by the Gold Coast in the 

south, Rosewood in the west and the Sunshine Coast in the north

Customer
A term used for any passenger utilising Citytrain or Travel or Tourism 

services, or a rail operator in the context of the freight network

Freight
General freight that is not transported in a bulk train and does not include 

intermodal and industrial products

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)
A measure of the number of lost time injuries per million hours worked, 

used by Queensland Rail to monitor and report employee health and safety

Network
Queensland’s rail system, including all main railway lines, marshalling yards, 

bulk freight loading and unloading points and customer stations

On-Time Running (OTR)
Measure of trains arriving at their destination on time

Positive pARTnerships Program
A Queensland Rail program involving work with community groups, local 

schools and stakeholders to collaborate and produce high quality public 

artwork projects on Queensland Rail property

Return on Assets (ROA)
Defi ned as EBIT less income from investments, divided by average 

operating assets

Return on Equity (ROE)
Defi ned as operating profi t after tax divided by average equity

Rollingstock
Rail locomotives and wagons

Transport Oriented Development (TOD)
A planning concept promoting the creation of well-designed and 

sustainable urban communities focussed around public transport modes

TransLink
A division of the Department of Transport and Main Roads that facilitates 

passenger transport services for Queenslanders and aims to provide a single 

integrated transport network accessible to everyone

Travel and Tourism network
A collective term for Queensland Rail’s eight diff erent travel and tourism 

services

Acronyms

AOD
Alcohol and other drugs

ARR
Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies

ASX
Australian Securities Exchange

ARA
Australian Railway Association

CARRS-Q
The Centre for Accident Research and Road Safety Queensland

CCTV
Closed Circuit Television

CEO
Chief Executive Offi  cer

CFO
Chief Financial Offi  cer

COI
Commission of Inquiry

Corporations Act
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)

CRU
Citytrain Response Unit

DDA
Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (Cth)

DTMR
Department of Transport and Main Roads

EBIT
Earnings Before Interest and Tax

EBITDA
Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation

ETCS
European Train Control System

ELT
Executive Leadership Team

FAA
Financial Accountability Act 2009 (Qld)

FPMS
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009

Glossary and Acronyms
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FTE
Full-time equivalent (employee)

GTK
Gross Tonne Kilometres

KSR
Kuranda Scenic Railway

NGR
New Generation Rollingstock

QCA
Queensland Competition Authority

QPS
Queensland Police Service

QRL
Queensland Rail Limited

QTC
Queensland Treasury Corporation

TSC
Transport Services Contract

RISSB
Rail Industry Safety Standards Board

RMC
Rail Management Centre

SPAD
Signal Passed at Danger

TRIFR
Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate

Glossary and Acronyms (cont)
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These financial statements cover Queensland Rail and its controlled entities.

Queensland Rail is a statutory body established under the Queensland Rail Transit Authority Act 2013.

The statutory body is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent.

The head office and principal place of business of the statutory body is:

Level 14, Rail Centre 1
305 Edward Street
Brisbane, Qld 4000

A description of the nature of the statutory body's operations and its principal activities is included in the notes to
the financial statements.



Queensland Rail
Statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 30 June 2017

Consolidated Parent

Notes
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Revenue from continuing operations 1 1,877,288 1,917,057 912,536 914,859
Other income 3,904 3,609 - -
Revenue 1,881,192 1,920,666 912,536 914,859

Supplies and services 2 (447,168) (406,538) - -
Employee benefits expense 3 (709,828) (662,887) (809,402) (738,444)
Depreciation and amortisation expense (380,428) (392,946) - -
Other expenses (19,006) (31,408) (2,376) (10,982)
Expenses (1,556,430) (1,493,779) (811,778) (749,426)

Operating profit 324,762 426,887 100,758 165,433

Finance income 1,582 6,416 - -
Finance expenses (183,760) (197,141) - -
Net finance costs (182,178) (190,725) - -

Profit before income tax 142,584 236,162 100,758 165,433

Income tax expense 4 (42,069) (70,836) - -

Profit for the year 100,515 165,326 100,758 165,433

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or
loss

Changes in the fair value of cash flow
hedges (28) (206) - -
Income tax relating to components of
other comprehensive income 4 8 62 - -

Other comprehensive income for the
year, net of tax (20) (144) - -

Total comprehensive income for the
year 100,495 165,182 100,758 165,433

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Queensland Rail
Balance sheet

As at 30 June 2017

Consolidated Parent

Notes
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,023 117,776 - -
Trade and other receivables 41,783 43,234 353,096 432,594
Inventories 87,372 84,434 - -
Current tax assets 45,970 - 45,970 -
Other current assets 9,578 10,087 - -
Total current assets 186,726 255,531 399,066 432,594

Non-current assets
Receivables 2,558 3,036 27,754 27,510
Inventories 24,933 24,711 - -
Property, plant and equipment 5 6,803,210 6,548,797 - -
Intangible assets 33,020 38,074 - -
Deferred tax assets 6 - - 69,735 70,262
Investment in subsidiary - - 2,845,324 2,845,324
Other non-current assets 4,716 5,266 3,524 16,108
Total non-current assets 6,868,437 6,619,884 2,946,337 2,959,204

Total assets 7,055,163 6,875,415 3,345,403 3,391,798

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 7 283,288 401,709 124,349 212,704
Borrowings 12 46,725 - - -
Provisions 8 222,974 215,176 219,423 210,895
Current tax liabilities - 14,105 - 14,105
Other current liabilities 15,381 15,048 102 17
Total current liabilities 568,368 646,038 343,874 437,721

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 12 3,250,000 3,000,000 - -
Provisions 8 44,309 47,555 27,754 27,510
Deferred tax liabilities 9 350,466 337,698 - -
Other non-current liabilities 14,478 16,562 46,965 -
Total non-current liabilities 3,659,253 3,401,815 74,719 27,510

Total liabilities 4,227,621 4,047,853 418,593 465,231

Net assets 2,827,542 2,827,562 2,926,810 2,926,567

EQUITY
Contributed equity 2,591,946 2,591,946 2,834,642 2,834,642
Reserves (54) (34) - -
Retained earnings 10 235,650 235,650 92,168 91,925

Total equity 2,827,542 2,827,562 2,926,810 2,926,567

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Queensland Rail
Statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 30 June 2017

Consolidated Notes

Contributed
equity
$'000

Reserves
$'000

Retained
earnings

$'000

Total
equity
$'000

Balance at 1 July 2016 2,591,946 (34) 235,650 2,827,562

Profit for the year - - 100,515 100,515
Other comprehensive income - (20) - (20)
Total comprehensive income for the year - (20) 100,515 100,495

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:
Dividends provided 10 - - (100,515) (100,515)

- - (100,515) (100,515)

Balance at 30 June 2017 2,591,946 (54) 235,650 2,827,542

Balance at 1 July 2015 2,591,946 110 252,520 2,844,576

Profit for the year - - 165,326 165,326
Other comprehensive income - (144) - (144)
Total comprehensive income for the year - (144) 165,326 165,182

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:
Dividends provided 10 - - (182,196) (182,196)

- - (182,196) (182,196)

Balance at 30 June 2016 2,591,946 (34) 235,650 2,827,562

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Queensland Rail
Statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 30 June 2017
(continued)

Parent Notes

Contributed
equity
$'000

Reserves
$'000

Retained
earnings

$'000

Total
equity
$'000

Balance at 1 July 2016 2,834,642 - 91,925 2,926,567

Profit for the year - - 100,758 100,758
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 100,758 100,758

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:
Dividends provided 10 - - (100,515) (100,515)

- - (100,515) (100,515)

Balance at 30 June 2017 2,834,642 - 92,168 2,926,810

Balance at 1 July 2015 2,834,642 - 108,688 2,943,330

Profit for the year - - 165,433 165,433
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 165,433 165,433

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:
Dividends provided 10 - - (182,196) (182,196)

- - (182,196) (182,196)

Balance at 30 June 2016 2,834,642 - 91,925 2,926,567

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Queensland Rail
Statement of cash flows

For the year ended 30 June 2017

Consolidated Parent

Notes
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers* 321,779 384,727 811,778 749,426
Receipts from Rail Transport Service
Contract* 1,750,729 1,723,611 - -
Dividends received from subsidiaries - - 165,433 222,872
Interest received 1,590 6,435 - -
Payments to suppliers and employees* (1,262,753) (1,194,335) (810,441) (735,129)
Interest and other costs of finance paid (191,514) (208,865) - -
GST input tax credits 100,019 90,376 563 521
GST remitted (188,709) (190,177) - -
Other 24 (5) 24 (5)
Income taxes paid (89,368) (110,432) (89,368) (110,432)
Net cash inflow from operating
activities 11 441,797 501,335 77,989 127,253

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from the disposal of assets 6,659 8,577 - -
Payments for fixed assets (678,738) (547,399) - -
Repayments of loans by related parties - - 104,207 51,746
Net cash (outflow) / inflow from
investing activities (672,079) (538,822) 104,207 51,746

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 296,725 - - -
Dividends paid 10 (182,196) (178,999) (182,196) (178,999)
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from
financing activities 114,529 (178,999) (182,196) (178,999)

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (115,753) (216,486) - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the financial year 117,776 334,262 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of
year 2,023 117,776 - -

* Inclusive of goods and services tax (GST).

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

Notes to the statement of comprehensive income

1 Revenue from continuing operations
Consolidated Parent

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Rail Transport Service Contract revenue 1,582,668 1,570,020 - -
Passenger transport revenue 69,715 69,852 - -
Network access revenue 163,358 213,814 - -
Other revenue 61,547 63,371 - -
Managed services revenue - - 811,778 749,426
Inter-company dividend revenue - - 100,758 165,433

1,877,288 1,917,057 912,536 914,859

The consolidated entity recognises revenue when the amount can be reliably measured and it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the consolidated entity. Revenue shall be measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable.

(a) Rail Transport Service Contract

A Rail Transport Service Contract (TSC) was entered into between Queensland Rail Limited and the State of
Queensland on 20 July 2015. Revenue for the provision of agreed services is fixed under the contract. This
contract covers revenue to Queensland Rail Limited from the Department of Transport and Main Roads (DTMR),
on behalf of the State of Queensland, for services provided by Queensland Rail Limited associated with:

• Citytrain and City Network Services
Queensland Rail Limited earns revenue for the delivery of train services on the City Network in accordance
with the timetable and for maintenance of the City Network infrastructure.

• Travel and Tourism Services
Queensland Rail Limited earns revenue associated with travel services provided to the public on Travel and
Tourism Services.

• Regional Infrastructure Services
Queensland Rail Limited earns revenue for the maintenance of the Regional Network infrastructure.

(b) Passenger transport

Other train passenger service revenue comprises ticket and related sales on Travel and Tourism Services.

(c) Network access

Revenue generated from rail network access is calculated based on a number of operating parameters (such as
tonnage hauled) applied to either regulator approved tariffs or negotiated access agreements. In some
circumstances where paths are not utilised by customers, a take or pay fee is charged. This fee is subject to
individual access contracts.

(d) Managed Services Agreement

Revenue generated from the provision of personnel services to Queensland Rail Limited includes direct and
indirect costs as per the Managed Services Agreement. All employees within the consolidated entity reside in
Queensland Rail. The Managed Services Agreement facilitates the invoicing of all employee related costs,
including their associated leave entitlement expenses, to Queensland Rail Limited.
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

2 Supplies and services
Consolidated

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Materials and consumable items 121,242 107,480
Trade services 123,912 119,792
Professional services and fees 49,988 40,501
Capital and external works 10,428 13,978
Lease and hire charges 39,779 33,882
Traction electricity and train fuel 40,148 39,181
Utilities 26,914 24,503
Vehicle running expenses 14,887 15,213
Other supplies and services 19,870 12,008

447,168 406,538

The parent entity does not have any supplies and services.

3 Employee benefits expense
Consolidated Parent

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Wages and salaries 507,910 466,848 602,103 538,128
Annual leave 55,112 50,767 55,112 50,767
Long service leave 13,306 26,788 13,306 26,788
Superannuation

Defined benefit superannuation expense 15,616 15,578 15,616 15,578
Defined contribution superannuation expense 50,784 45,456 50,784 45,456

Other employee benefits 25,153 22,537 25,153 22,537
Employee related expenses 41,947 34,913 47,328 39,190

709,828 662,887 809,402 738,444

In accordance with accounting standards and Queensland Rail capitalisation policy, all employee expenses
directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset are recognised directly in property, plant and
equipment.

The number of full-time equivalent (FTE) employees as at reporting date was 6,520.2 (2016: 5,958.6). FTEs
include full-time, part-time and casual employees based on a thirty-eight hour week.

(a) High Court decision

CEPU & ORS v QUEENSLAND RAIL & ANOR [2015] HCA 11

On 8 April 2015 the High Court determined that Queensland Rail Transit Authority (Queensland Rail) is a trading
corporation for the purposes of s. 51 (xx) of the Commonwealth Constitution and consequently a “national system
employer” for the purposes of the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth). The effect of the High Court determination is that
relations between Queensland Rail and its employees are (and have since 3 May 2013 been) governed by the
Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth), not the Industrial Relations Act 1999 (Qld), and provisions in the Queensland Rail
Transit Authority Act 2013 (Qld) that are inconsistent with that position are invalid.
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

3 Employee benefits expense (continued)
As a consequence of the determination by the High Court:

• the federal enterprise agreements that applied to Queensland Rail employees under the Fair Work Act (Cth)
immediately prior to 3 May 2013 continued to apply at all times since 3 May 2013. As those agreements had
expired, the agreements needed to be renegotiated or replaced under the Fair Work Act. New enterprise
agreements for all relevant employees other than traincrew employees were negotiated and approved by the
workforce and subsequently approved by the Fair Work Commission on 1 April 2016;

• the Queensland Rail Traincrew Certified Agreement 2013 certified by the Queensland Industrial Relations
Commission under the Industrial Relations Act 1999 (Qld) on 21 October 2013 was invalid. The federal
enterprise agreement applicable to the relevant employees immediately prior to 3 May 2013 (the QR
Passenger Pty Limited Traincrew Union Collective Workplace Agreement 2009) continued to apply and, as
that agreement had expired, it needed to be renegotiated or replaced under the Fair Work Act 2009. A new
enterprise agreement was negotiated and approved by the workforce in January 2017 and subsequently
approved by the Fair Work Commission on 30 March 2017. Prior to the determination by the High Court on 8
April 2015, and in compliance with the express terms of the State Certified Queensland Rail Traincrew
Certified Agreement 2013, Queensland Rail paid employees covered by that agreement pay rate increases
specified in the agreement. Pay rate increases from 8 April 2015 have been recognised in the annual
statement of comprehensive income as other expenses as they meet the definition of a special payment
(refer to note 22). For the 2016/17 year, the amount recognised as a special payment up to 31 August 2016
was $2.0 million (2016: $9.4 million).

4 Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. The income tax expense or
benefit for the period is the tax payable or receivable on the current period's taxable income based on the income
tax rate, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

(a) Income tax expense

Consolidated Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Current tax 31,410 84,457 (873) 3,642
Deferred tax 11,656 (13,591) 873 (3,642)
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods (727) (30) - -
Recognition of unused capital tax loss (270) - - -

42,069 70,836 - -

Deferred income tax expense / (benefit) included
in income tax expense comprises:
(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax assets (note
6) 618 965 873 (3,642)
Increase / (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities
(note 9) 11,038 (14,556) - -

11,656 (13,591) 873 (3,642)
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

4 Income tax expense (continued)
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Consolidated Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Profit from continuing operations before income
tax expense 142,584 236,162 100,758 165,433
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2016: 30%) 42,775 70,849 30,227 49,630
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible /
(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Entertainment 1 1 - -
Dividends received from subsidiaries - - (30,227) (49,630)
Capital losses (1) (6) - -
Other 21 22 - -

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods (727) (30) - -
(706) (13) (30,227) (49,630)

Total income tax expense 42,069 70,836 - -

(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity

Consolidated Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the
reporting period and not recognised in net profit
or loss but directly debited or credited to equity:

Net deferred tax - debited / (credited) directly
to equity (notes 6 and 9) (8) (62) - -

(8) (62) - -

(d) Income tax consolidation

Queensland Rail and its wholly owned Australian subsidiaries Queensland Rail Limited and On Track Insurance
Pty Ltd are entities which are members of the Queensland Rail National Tax Equivalents Regime (NTER) income
tax consolidated group. Income tax equivalent payments are made to the Queensland Government.

In accordance with Interpretation 1052 the specified subsidiary members each recognise the tax effect of their
own transactions in their financial statements and the head entity recognises the aggregate current income tax
liability of the consolidated entity and the benefit of any tax losses arising in the consolidated entity in its financial
statements.

The income tax consolidated group compensates Queensland Rail for any current tax payable assumed and is
compensated by Queensland Rail for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax
losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to Queensland Rail under income tax consolidation legislation.
The funding amounts are recognised as non-current inter-company receivables or payables.
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(b) Initial recognition

Items of expenditure in excess of $2,000 which are expected to provide future economic benefits are recognised
as an item of property, plant and equipment, with the exception of the purchase of office equipment and other
items of a similar nature that provide limited quantifiable benefits. The threshold applies to all property, plant and
equipment except capital spares.

Capital spares have a threshold of $20,000. If capital spares are under $20,000, the item is recorded in inventory.
Expenditure that does not meet the definition of an asset is treated as an operating expense in the period in
which the expenditure is incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Work in progress

The cost of property, plant and equipment constructed by the consolidated entity includes the cost of all materials
used in construction, direct labour, site preparation, interest and foreign currency gains and losses incurred
where applicable and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads based on direct labour hours.

The transfers between asset classes represents property, plant and equipment and intangibles commissioned
during the period.

The transfers to supplies and services represent expenditure incurred over the life of capital projects that are
expensed in the current year on the basis that they are operational in nature or comprise expenditure on capital
works on behalf of third parties in accordance with the consolidated entity's capitalisation policy.

Land

The Transport Infrastructure Act 1994 stipulates that the consolidated entity only retains ownership of its
non-corridor land. As such, only non-corridor land is recorded in these accounts. Ownership of corridor land
remains with the Department of Natural Resources and Mines on behalf of the State. This land is leased to the
Department of Transport and Main Roads and subsequently sub-leased to the consolidated entity for no cost.
The sub-lease term is for an initial term of 100 years with a renewal option for an additional 100 years.

Buildings

The fit out costs of leased properties is disclosed under buildings.

Major plant and equipment

Rollingstock is considered to be major plant and equipment.

Gifted and Donated Assets

Assets received from government at no cost are measured at fair value and recognised as income in advance
which is subsequently amortised to government grants revenue over the useful life of the asset. Fair value means
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date.

(c) Subsequent and maintenance costs
Costs related to repairs and maintenance activities are expensed when performed. Subsequent costs are only
recognised as property, plant and equipment when there is an increase in the original assessed capacity or
service potential of an asset, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
consolidated entity and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for
as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced.

13



Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(d) Depreciation
Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition, or, in respect of internally constructed or manufactured
assets, from the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these
components are assigned useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate.

Buildings, plant and equipment, major plant and equipment and infrastructure are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the useful life net of the residual value. Motor vehicles are depreciated using the diminishing value
basis (percentages range from 13.64% to 35.00%).

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful lives of the improvements.

Major spares purchased specifically for particular assets are recognised as an item of property, plant and
equipment and depreciated in line with standard asset class lives.

Land and work in progress are not depreciated.

The depreciation rates used during the year were based on the following range of useful lives:
• Buildings 10 - 50 years
• Major plant and equipment 8 - 40 years
• Plant and equipment 4 - 25 years
• Infrastructure* 6 - 100 years

Remaining useful lives of assets are reviewed annually.

* Longer life infrastructure includes bridges, tunnels and other long lived civil works. Approximately 33% of the
cost of infrastructure assets comprise assets with useful lives of 100 years. Shorter life infrastructure includes
telecommunications and security and surveillance equipment. Approximately 34% of the cost of infrastructure
assets comprise railway track. The useful life of this class of asset is between 40-50 years.

Judgements and estimates

On initial recognition management estimates the useful lives and residual value of property, plant and equipment.
The useful life is based on the expected period of time over which economic benefits from use of the asset will be
derived and the residual value is based on the consideration that may be received from a willing buyer at the end
of the asset’s useful life. Management reviews useful life and residual value assumptions on an annual basis
having given consideration to variables including historical and forecast usage rates, technological
advancements, changes in legal and economic conditions, condition of the asset and movement in market
indices and prices.

The Queensland Rail Board are monitoring the transition to the New Generation Rollingstock assets, which are
expected to commence during the next reporting period, and the ongoing rollingstock requirements during this
transition period.

(e) Impairment

Assets (including work in progress) are reviewed for impairment annually to determine if there are indications that
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped into cash generating units (CGUs) at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Prior to 1 July 2015, Queensland Rail identified three CGUs being South East Queensland, Regional and Other.
The Other CGU comprised the Heritage and Kuranda assets and was not included in the prior Rail Transport
Service Contract (TSC) arrangements. Therefore the assets were fully impaired and all new expenditure on
Heritage and Kuranda was immediately expensed post commissioning.

From 1 July 2015, the TSC between Queensland Rail and the Department of Transport and Main Roads includes
funding for Kuranda and Heritage operations. From this date, the Kuranda and Heritage operations are included
in the Regional CGU.

The impact of this change is that the previous impairments for the Kuranda and Heritage assets were reversed by
the recoverable amount in the prior reporting period.

An impairment assessment on all CGUs was undertaken prior to reporting date. No impairment was recognised
in the current or prior reporting period.

Judgements and estimates

Value in use calculations require the use of assumptions. These assumptions include the allocation of
management's assessment of future cash flows for the next five years for the consolidated entity to each CGU
and the discounting of nominal amounts using the weighted average cost of capital applicable to that CGU. The
cash flows include a terminal value which is determined using a perpetuity calculation after adjusting for annual
growth.

Management has adopted an expected cash flow approach when assessing future cash flows in accordance with
accounting standards. In prior years a traditional approach, using a single set of estimated cash flows, was
adopted. The expected cash flows approach represents expectations about possible future cash flows.
Probabilities were assigned to transport service contract revenue and were weighted in accordance with their
likelihood. This approach has provided management more certainty in determining the recoverable amount of
Queensland Rail’s assets.

(f) Non-current assets pledged as security

No assets have been pledged as security by the consolidated entity.

6 Deferred tax assets
Consolidated Parent

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
Accrued expenses 6,482 7,002 114 2,467
Capital losses 270 - - -
Provisions 80,091 79,214 69,274 66,825
Superannuation contributions 347 970 347 970
Unearned revenue 4,507 4,515 - -
Foreign exchange gains 5 3 - -
Cash flow hedges 23 15 - -
Total deferred tax assets 91,725 91,719 69,735 70,262

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off
provisions (note 9) (91,725) (91,719) - -
Net deferred tax assets - - 69,735 70,262
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

6 Deferred tax assets (continued)
Consolidated Parent

Movements:

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Opening balance - - 70,262 66,620
Prior year adjustments 346 378 346 -
Credited / (charged) to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (note 4) (618) (965) (873) 3,642
Cash flow hedges 8 15 - -
Recognition of unused capital tax loss 270 - - -
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off
provisions (note 9) (6) 572 - -
Closing balance at 30 June - - 69,735 70,262

Deferred tax assets expected to be recovered
within 12 months - - 24,325 65,167
Deferred tax assets expected to be recovered
after more than 12 months - - 45,410 5,095

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to either settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.

Judgements and estimates

The consolidated entity's accounting policy for taxation requires management's judgement as to the types of
arrangements considered to be subject to a tax. Judgement is also required in assessing whether deferred tax
assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets, including
those arising from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences, are recognised only when it
is considered probable that they will be recovered. Recoverability is dependent on the generation of sufficient
future taxable profits.

7 Trade and other payables
Consolidated Parent

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Trade payables 168,318 202,018 16,450 22,692
Dividend payable 100,515 182,196 100,515 182,196
Other payables 8,958 9,085 7,388 7,867

277,791 393,299 124,353 212,755

GST input tax credits receivable (11,240) (8,664) (4) (51)
GST payable 16,737 17,074 - -

5,497 8,410 (4) (51)

Total trade and other payables 283,288 401,709 124,349 212,704

These amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within the terms set by the supplier.
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

8 Provisions
2017 2016

Consolidated
Current

$'000
Non-current

$'000
Total
$'000

Current
$'000

Non-current
$'000

Total
$'000

Employee benefits 214,124 15,688 229,812 204,746 16,982 221,728
Provision for insurance claims 850 - 850 1,000 - 1,000
Litigation and workers' compensation
provision 6,033 12,408 18,441 7,184 10,878 18,062
Land rehabilitation provision 22 6,205 6,227 289 6,068 6,357
Make good provision - 2,609 2,609 - 2,567 2,567
Onerous contracts provision 1,945 7,399 9,344 1,957 11,060 13,017

222,974 44,309 267,283 215,176 47,555 262,731

2017 2016

Parent
Current

$'000
Non-current

$'000
Total
$'000

Current
$'000

Non-current
$'000

Total
$'000

Employee benefits 214,124 15,688 229,812 204,746 16,982 221,728
Provision for insurance claims - - - - - -
Litigation and workers' compensation
provision 5,299 12,066 17,365 6,149 10,528 16,677
Land rehabilitation provision - - - - - -
Make good provision - - - - - -
Onerous contracts provision - - - - - -

219,423 27,754 247,177 210,895 27,510 238,405

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

(a) Employee benefits

Employee obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period, regardless of when the
actual settlement is expected to occur. The remaining non-vested employee obligations are included as
non-current liabilities. Employee benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, leave loading, long service
leave, retiring allowance and related on-costs (where applicable). Sick leave is not provided for on the grounds
that it is non-vesting.

Retirement allowance is payable to employees that retire or are paid according to Voluntary Employee
Redundancy Scheme (VERS) or Medical Separation who:
• are not members of a QSuper contributory or defined benefit superannuation fund;
• were employed prior to 1 February 1995;
• have 10 or more years of continuous service; and
• have reached the retirement attainment age of 55.
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

8 Provisions (continued)
(i) Short-term employee benefit obligations

Short-term liabilities are benefits expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period. These liabilities are in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date and are measured at their
vested amount plus on-costs.

(ii) Long-term employee benefit obligations

Long-term liabilities are benefits not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period. These liabilities are measured using the expected future payments to be made in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.

Expected future long-term payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on Australian
high-quality corporate bonds (G100) with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated
future cash outflows.

Judgements and estimates

The determination of the provisions required is dependent on a number of assumptions including expected wage
increases, probability of meeting the conditions of the benefit and the estimation of the length of time before the
benefit is utilised. Wage increases are based on the current agreements in place and both the probability of
meeting the conditions and the estimated time until utilised are based on the three year history.

Superannuation

Contributions are expensed as they are made.

The entity pays an employer subsidy to the Government Superannuation Office in respect of employees who are
contributors to either the Public Sector Superannuation (QSuper) scheme or State Service Superannuation.

Employer contributions to the Super Defined Benefit Fund are determined by the State Actuary. The rate of
employer contribution is reviewed at each triennial actuarial investigation, however the Treasurer announced in
the 2015/16 State Budget that investment of employer contributions into the Employer Fund would be suspended
for five years until 2019/20 due to there being sufficient funds to meet payment obligations to members of the
defined benefit scheme. After that time, the previous arrangements will recommence. No liability is recognised for
accruing superannuation benefits as this liability is held on a Whole-of-Government basis and reported in the
Whole-of-Government consolidated financial statements. The entity also makes superannuation guarantee
payments into the QSuper Accumulation Fund (RailSuper) and QSuper Accumulation Fund (Contributory)
administered by the Government Superannuation Office.

No liability / asset is recognised for the entity's share of any potential deficit of the Super Defined Benefit Fund of
QSuper.

(b) Litigation and workers' compensation provision

Provision is made for the estimated liability for workers' compensation and litigation claims. Independent actuarial
valuations are used to estimate the provisions required for self-insured workers' compensation. Litigation claims
are assessed separately for common law, statutory and asbestos claims. The outstanding liability is determined
after factoring future claims inflation and discounting future claim payments.

Judgements and estimates

The determination of the provisions required is dependent on a number of assumptions including the total future
cost to finalise existing open claims, wage increases that will impact existing claims, inflation and the amount of
claims that have been incurred but not yet reported. Estimates are made based on the average number of claims
and average claim payments over a specified period of time. Claims Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) are also
included in the estimate. Claims are expected to be paid over a period exceeding more than one year.
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

8 Provisions (continued)
(c) Onerous contracts provision

This provision represents the net unavoidable costs expected to be incurred on commitments for property leases
concerning commercial office space in Brisbane. The net unavoidable costs comprise the commitments under the
lease contracts for offices that are currently vacated by the consolidated entity less expected revenue to be
received from the sub-lease of office space under the same contracts. The onerous provision is equivalent to the
present value of the future net unavoidable costs.

Judgements and estimates

The determination of the provision required is dependent on estimations for the likelihood of whether floors will be
utilised by the consolidated entity.

(d) Movements in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Consolidated
2017

Provision
for

insurance
claims
$'000

Litigation and
workers'

compensation
provision

$'000

Land
rehabilitation

provision
$'000

Make
good

provision
$'000

Onerous
contracts
provision

$'000
Total
$'000

Current and non-current
Carrying amount at start of year 1,000 18,062 6,357 2,567 13,017 41,003
Charged / (credited) to profit or
loss

- additional provisions
recognised 328 6,627 - 1 - 6,956

- unused amounts released - (100) (270) - (1,716) (2,086)
- unwind discount - - 140 41 207 388

Amounts used during the year (478) (6,148) - - (2,164) (8,790)
Carrying amount at end of year 850 18,441 6,227 2,609 9,344 37,471

Parent
2017

Provision
for

insurance
claims
$'000

Litigation and
workers'

compensation
provision

$'000

Land
rehabilitation

provision
$'000

Make
good

provision
$'000

Onerous
contracts
provision

$'000
Total
$'000

Current and non-current
Carrying amount at start of year - 16,677 - - - 16,677
Charged / (credited) to profit or
loss

- additional provisions
recognised - 6,627 - - - 6,627

- unused amounts released - - - - - -
- unwind discount - - - - - -

Amounts used during the year - (5,939) - - - (5,939)
Carrying amount at end of year - 17,365 - - - 17,365
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

9 Deferred tax liabilities
Consolidated

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
Accrued income 9 6
Consumables and spare parts 9,370 8,947
Property, plant and equipment 432,664 420,464
Prepayments 148 -
Total deferred tax liabilities 442,191 429,417

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off
provisions (note 6) (91,725) (91,719)
Net deferred tax liabilities 350,466 337,698

Movements:
Opening balance 337,698 350,058
Prior year adjustments 1,736 1,671
Charged / (credited) to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (note 4) 11,038 (14,556)
Cash flow hedges - (47)
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off
provisions (note 6) (6) 572
Closing balance at 30 June 350,466 337,698

Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled
within 12 months (27,208) (66,698)
Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled after
more than 12 months 377,674 404,396

The parent entity does not have any deferred tax liabilities.

10 Retained earnings and dividends
(a) Movements in retained earnings

Consolidated Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Opening balance 235,650 252,520 91,925 108,688
Profit for the year 100,515 165,326 100,758 165,433
Dividends provided (100,515) (182,196) (100,515) (182,196)
Balance 30 June 235,650 235,650 92,168 91,925
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

10 Retained earnings and dividends (continued)
(b) Dividends

Consolidated Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Dividend declared 100,515 182,196 100,515 182,196
Dividend paid 182,196 178,999 182,196 178,999

All dividends declared / paid were unfranked.

Notes to the statement of cash flows

11 Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating
activities

Consolidated Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Profit for the year 100,515 165,326 100,758 165,433
Depreciation and amortisation 380,428 392,946 - -
Net impairment of non-current assets - (185) - -
Amortisation of prepaid access facilitation
charges (518) (1,064) - -
Losses on sale of non-current assets 12,230 10,767 - -
Unrealised (gain) / loss on derivatives 5 (7) - -
Impairment of trade receivables 24 38 - -
Inventory obsolescence 1,328 4,295 - -
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease in trade debtors 1,906 3,698 64,414 57,439
Increase in inventories (4,489) (8,680) - -
Increase in other operating assets (44,912) (3,748) (75,263) (83,134)
Decrease in trade creditors (6,702) (21,132) (6,673) (1,133)
Decrease in other liabilities (2,569) (45,541) (14,019) (27,346)
Increase in other provisions 4,551 4,622 8,772 15,994

Net cash inflow from operating activities 441,797 501,335 77,989 127,253

Risk

12 Financial risk management
The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including market risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. All cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and borrowings are held and
recognised by Queensland Rail Limited. The Queensland Rail parent entity is not exposed to any market, credit
or liquidity risk within the consolidated entity.

Financial risk management is carried out by the consolidated entity under policies approved by the Members of
the Board (the Board).
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Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

12 Financial risk management (continued)
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and for disclosure
purposes. The derivative financial assets and liabilities held by the consolidated entity have been classified as
level 2 on the fair value hierarchy as values are indirectly derived from market indices.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to
their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the consolidated entity for
similar financial instruments. The carrying amount of current borrowings approximates the fair value, as the
impact of discounting is not significant.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The consolidated entity is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US Dollar (USD), the Euro (EUR) and the Japanese Yen (JPY).

The consolidated entity's exposure to foreign exchange risk at reporting date was as follows:

30 June 2017 30 June 2016

Consolidated
USD
$'000

EUR
€'000

JPY
¥'000

USD
$'000

EUR
€'000

JPY
¥'000

Cash and cash equivalents 81 58 28,766 113 2 150,622
Forward exchange contracts (qualifying for
hedge accounting) 1,052 - - 2,253 - -
Net exposure 1,133 58 28,766 2,366 2 150,622

The consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts to hedge
significant risk exposures. Trading for profit is strictly prohibited.

The consolidated entity's foreign exchange risk management policy dictates the level of hedging to be
undertaken within the Board approved limits.

Derivatives are recognised at fair value. The consolidated entity applies hedge accounting to transactions which
are highly probable.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the statement of comprehensive income in the periods when the
hedged item will affect profit or loss. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity
and included in the measurement of the initial cost or carrying amount of the asset.

Judgements and estimates

Management's judgement is necessary when determining whether a derivative financial instrument qualifies for
hedge accounting, such as whether forecast transactions are highly probable as required by AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The assessment of whether forecast transactions are highly
probable is judgmental and is subject to changes to the timing and magnitude of underlying purchases.
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12 Financial risk management (continued)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The consolidated entity's main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the consolidated entity to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the
consolidated entity to fair value interest rate risk. The Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) has been
authorised to manage the interest rate risk of the consolidated entity within limits in accordance with the risk
profile approved by the Board.

At reporting date the consolidated entity had the following exposure to variable rate borrowings:

30 June 2017 30 June 2016

Consolidated

Weighted
average

interest rate
%

Balance
$'000

Weighted
average

interest rate
%

Balance
$'000

Overdrafts and loans 6.0 3,296,725 6.8 3,000,000
Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 3,296,725 3,000,000

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the consolidated entity has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

The fair value of borrowings is determined by reference to pricing models and valuation techniques as advised by
QTC. The carrying amounts and fair values of current and non-current borrowings at reporting date are:

2017 2016

Consolidated

Carrying
amount

$'000
Fair value

$'000

Carrying
amount
$'000

Fair value
$'000

Non-traded financial liabilities
Current borrowings (unsecured) 46,725 46,725 - -
Non-current borrowings (unsecured) 3,250,000 3,567,790 3,000,000 3,440,497

3,296,725 3,614,515 3,000,000 3,440,497

The following table summarises the sensitivity of the consolidated entity’s debt with QTC to interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk
-1% +1%

Consolidated
30 June 2017

Carrying
amount

$'000
Profit
$'000

Equity
$'000

Profit
$'000

Equity
$'000

Client Specific Debt Pool 3,250,000 2,600 2,600 (2,426) (2,426)
Total increase / (decrease) 2,600 2,600 (2,426) (2,426)

30 June 2016

Client Specific Debt Pool 3,000,000 2,754 2,754 (2,640) (2,640)
Total increase / (decrease) 2,754 2,754 (2,640) (2,640)
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12 Financial risk management (continued)
Debt is drawn from facilities with QTC incorporating fixed and floating debt and is initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method. Interest is accrued and paid monthly.

Borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the construction of material qualifying assets are recognised as
part of the cost of the asset. Qualifying assets are assets not funded from other sources with a cost of more than
$1.0 million and which take a substantial period of time to prepare for intended use or sale. The rate used to
determine the amount of borrowing cost to be capitalised is the QTC interest rate applicable to the consolidated
entity’s outstanding borrowings during the year, in this case 6.02% (2016: 6.84%). During the year, interest costs
of $8.7 million were capitalised (2016: $10.3 million).

(b) Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at reporting date to
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any allowances for impairment of those assets, as
disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Policies are in place to ensure that sales of products and services are only made to customers with an
appropriate credit history.

Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions and are
approved by the Board. The consolidated entity has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one
financial institution.

The consolidated entity does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of
receivables under financial instruments entered into by the consolidated entity, other than amounts owing by the
State of Queensland.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management within the consolidated entity ensures sufficient cash to meet short-term and long-term
financial commitments.

Financing arrangements

The short-term borrowing arrangements with QTC are interest bearing, refer to note 12(a)(ii). The borrowing
arrangements are subject to annual review.

The amount of undrawn short-term borrowing facilities with QTC available at reporting date is $103.3 million
(2016: $150.0 million).

Long-term borrowings are sourced from the Client Specific Debt Pool subject to annual approval of the
Queensland State Treasurer. The consolidated entity may draw up to the amount of the approved borrowing
program.

Borrowings are not secured.

Maturity Analysis

The amounts disclosed in the maturity table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

QTC borrowings are interest only with no fixed repayment date for the principal component. For the purposes of
completing the maturity analysis, the principal component of this loan has been included in the over five years
time band with no interest payment assumed in this time band.
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Consolidated
30 June 2017

Less than
1 year
$'000

Between
1 and 5 years

$'000

Over
5 years
$'000

Total
contractual
cash flows

$'000

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing 161,065 - - 161,065
Variable rate 68,433 - - 68,433
Duration based 156,105 623,805 3,250,000 4,029,910
Total non-derivatives 385,603 623,805 3,250,000 4,259,408

30 June 2016

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing 197,169 - - 197,169
Variable rate 22,344 - - 22,344
Duration based 186,743 747,485 3,010,041 3,944,269
Total non-derivatives 406,256 747,485 3,010,041 4,163,782

13 Capital risk management
The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The responsible Ministers advise the appropriate methodology in determining the dividend payable annually.

The consolidated entity monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including 'borrowings' and external ‘trade and
other payables' as shown in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdraft). Total
capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt.

The consolidated entity's gearing ratios are as follows:

Consolidated
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Total borrowings 3,580,013 3,401,709
Less: cash and cash equivalents (2,023) (117,776)
Net debt 3,577,990 3,283,933

Total equity 2,827,542 2,827,562
Total capital 6,405,532 6,111,495

Consolidated
Gearing ratio 56% 54%

The consolidated entity is also required by QTC to maintain an Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) Interest
Coverage of greater than 1.25:1, except where the total debt to capital is greater than 70%, in which case the
EBIT Interest Coverage must be at least 2:1. The consolidated entity has complied with this requirement for both
the current and prior reporting periods.
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14 Correction of errors and revision of estimates
There have been no corrections of errors in the current reporting period.

There were no material revisions of estimates during the current reporting period.

Unrecognised items

15 Contingencies
Contingencies comprise guarantees either held or issued by the consolidated entity and assets and liabilities not
qualifying for recognition at reporting date. A majority of the guarantees held relate to performance guarantees on
construction contracts provided by third parties.

The consolidated entity had contingencies at reporting date in respect of:

(a) Contingent assets

2017 2016

Consolidated
Fair value

$'000
Fair value

$'000

Non-qualifying assets 3,017 12,106
Third party guarantees 71,000 71,000
Bank guarantees 111,618 121,698
Insurance company guarantees - 15,648

185,635 220,452

The parent entity does not hold any guarantees.

(b) Contingent liabilities

Issues relating to common law claims and product warranties are dealt with as they arise. There were no material
contingent liabilities requiring disclosures in the financial statements other than as set out below.

2017 2016

Consolidated
Fair value

$'000
Fair value

$'000

Non-qualifying liabilities 10,145 5,073
Bank guarantees 25,483 25,483

35,628 30,556

The parent entity has not issued any guarantees.

Litigation

A number of common law claims are pending against the consolidated entity. Provisions are taken up for some of
these exposures based on the Board's determination and are included as such in note 8.
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15 Contingencies (continued)
As at reporting date, the following cases were filed in the courts naming Queensland Rail as defendant:

Consolidated Parent
2017 2016 2017 2016

Number of cases before the Supreme Court 3 4 - -

Number of cases before the District Court 8 10 - -

Number of cases before the Magistrates Court - 1 - -

It is not possible to make a reliable estimate of the final amount payable, if any, in respect of the litigation before
the courts at this time.

(i) Environmental incident - Julia Creek derailment

Following the derailment of a third party operator's train near Julia Creek in December 2015, all remediation and
validation works within the rail corridor have been completed. All required reports have been provided to the
Department of Environment and Heritage Protection.

16 Commitments
The future commitments of the consolidated entity (excluding GST) at reporting date were as follows:

(a) Commitments payable

2017 2016

Consolidated
Capital
$'000

Lease
$'000

Capital
$'000

Lease
$'000

Within one year 165,080 6,772 192,155 6,811
Later than one year but not later than five years 18,483 14,681 108,031 20,348
Later than five years - 599 - 654

183,563 22,052 300,186 27,813

The parent entity does not have any commitments payable.

(b) Commitments receivable

2017 2016

Consolidated
Lease
$'000

Lease
$'000

Within one year 6,516 6,124
Later than one year but not later than five years 15,452 16,943
Later than five years 21,851 24,892

43,819 47,959

The parent entity does not have any commitments receivable.

The prior year lease commitments receivable have been restated due to a misstatement of annual rental income.
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17 Events occurring after the reporting period
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected, or may
significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs
of the consolidated entity.

Other items

18 Key management personnel disclosures
(a) Responsible Ministers

Ministerial remuneration entitlements are outlined in the Legislative Assembly of Queensland’s Members’
Remuneration Handbook. The consolidated entity does not bear any cost of remuneration of Ministers. The
majority of Ministerial entitlements are paid by the Legislative Assembly, with the remaining entitlements being
provided by Ministerial Services Branch within the Department of the Premier and Cabinet. As all Ministers are
reported as key management personnel of the Queensland Government, aggregate remuneration expenses for
all Ministers is disclosed in the Queensland General Government and Whole of Government Consolidated
Financial Statements as from 2016/17, which are published as part of Queensland Treasury’s Report on State
Finances.

The responsible Ministers of Queensland Rail and its subsidiaries during the year ended 30 June 2017 were:
• J Trad MP

Deputy Premier, Minister for Transport and Minister for Infrastructure and Planning (appointed Minister for
Transport 10 February 2017)

• C Pitt MP
Treasurer and Minister for Trade and Investment

• S Hinchliffe MP
Minister for Transport and the Commonwealth Games (ceased as Minister for Transport 6 February 2017)

(b) Members, directors and specified executives

Compensation and other terms of employment for the specified executives are formalised in service agreements.

Details of the compensation of each specified member, director and executive are as follows:

2017
$'000

2016*
$'000

Short-term benefits 4,002 3,580
Post-employment benefits 374 348
Long-term benefits 231 43
Termination benefits 172 -

4,779 3,971

* The prior year aggregate includes all compensation provided to individuals who held a key management
personnel role, however, the remuneration tables for directors and specified executives only includes
information for individuals holding key management personnel roles during the current reporting period.

Short-term benefits includes cash salary, annual leave paid, at risk performance incentives (for specified
executives only), fees and non-monetary benefits. Non-monetary benefits represent the value of Exempt and
Reportable Fringe Benefits for the respective Fringe Benefits Tax year.
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18 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)
(c) Key management personnel compensation

(i) Members and directors of Queensland Rail and subsidiaries

2017
Short-term

benefits
Post-

employment
benefits

Members

Member
fees and

allowances
Super-

annuation Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

P Strachan Chair 50 5 55
Appointment date: 7 February 2017
Appointment term: 2 years 8 months
Expiry date: 30 September 2019

Blank
N Hollows Chair 36 4 40

Ceased: 6 February 2017
Blank

M Klug AM Chair 45 4 49
Ceased: 27 October 2016

Blank
A Blums Member 12 1 13

Ceased: 30 September 2016
Blank

S Cantwell* Member 32 3 35
Appointment date: 1 October 2016
Appointment term: 3 years
Expiry date: 30 September 2019

Blank
J Dunn* Member 33 3 36

Appointment date: 1 October 2016
Appointment term: 3 years
Expiry date: 30 September 2019

Blank
D Marchant AM Member 45 4 49

Appointment date: 7 October 2015
Appointment term: 3 years
Expiry date: 30 September 2018

Blank
J Mickel Member 32 3 35

Ceased: 10 March 2017
Blank

R Peters Member 32 3 35
Appointment date: 1 October 2016
Appointment term: 3 years
Expiry date: 30 September 2019

Normal
P Wallis Member 46 4 50

Reappointment date: 1 October 2016
Appointment term: 3 years
Expiry date: 30 September 2019

Blank
Total 363 34 397

* These members did not receive monetary benefits directly. Payments were made to entities, of which they were
either employees or directors, on their behalf.
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18 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

2016
Short-term

benefits
Post-

employment
benefits

Members

Member
fees and

allowances
Super-

annuation Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

M Klug AM Chair 132 12 144
Blank

A Blums Member 45 4 49
Blank

D Marchant AM Member 30 3 33
Blank

J Mickel Member 41 4 45
Blank

P Wallis Member 44 4 48
Blank

All the members listed above are members of the Queensland Rail Board and directors of the Queensland Rail
Limited Board.

J Benstead is appointed as Managing Director of On Track Insurance Pty Ltd, with no set appointment term. As
an employee of Queensland Rail, J Benstead did not receive remuneration in his capacity as director of On Track
Insurance Pty Ltd.

N Jones is appointed as Director of On Track Insurance Pty Ltd, with no set appointment term. As an employee
of former parent company, Aurizon Operations Limited (formerly QR National Limited), N Jones did not receive
remuneration in his capacity as director of On Track Insurance Pty Ltd.

These amounts are not in addition to the amounts disclosed in the Key Management Personnel note of the
Queensland Rail Limited financial statements as they were recharged by the entity in accordance with the
Managed Services Agreement.

Members' and directors' remuneration and terms of appointment are set by responsible Ministers. Members' and
directors' remuneration is subsequently reviewed annually by responsible Ministers.

Members and directors are not entitled to termination payments on termination of their period of service.
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18 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)
(ii) Specified executives of the consolidated entity

2017
Short-term benefits Post-

employment
benefits

Long-
term

benefits

Specified executives

Cash
salary

and fees
Cash

bonuses

Non-
monetary
benefits

Super-
annuation

Long
service
leave

Term-
ination

benefits Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

N Easy* 154 - 1 20 - - 175
Chief Executive Officer
Appointment date: 3 April 2017
Appointment term: 5 years
Expiry date: 2 April 2022

Blank
N Scales* 283 - 2 36 - - 321

Chief Executive Officer
Ceased: 2 April 2017

Blank
H Gluer* 448 - 1 22 48 - 519

Chief Executive Officer
Ceased: 27 October 2016

Blank
J Benstead** 242 - 3 28 - - 273

Acting Chief Financial Officer
and Executive General
Manager Commercial &
Strategy
(from 19 October 2016)

Blank
R Bosiljevac** 48 - 1 4 - - 53

Acting General Counsel and
Executive General Manager
Governance
(from 20 April 2017)

Blank
L Collins* 46 - 1 6 - - 53

Executive General Manager
People and Culture
Appointment date: 15 May 2017
Appointment term: 6 months
Expiry date: 14 November 2017

Blank
N Duce** 243 33 2 27 - - 305

Executive General Manager
Human Resources
Ceased: 19 May 2017

Blank
D Farrelly* 323 - - 29 - - 352

General Counsel and Executive
General Manager Governance
Ceased: 19 April 2017

Blank
L Gordon** 389 59 4 50 - - 502

Executive General Manager
Projects
Appointment date: 21 July 2014
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2017
Short-term benefits Post-

employment
benefits

Long-
term

benefits

Specified executives

Cash
salary

and fees
Cash

bonuses

Non-
monetary
benefits

Super-
annuation

Long
service
leave

Term-
ination

benefits Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

M Hope** 163 - 1 11 65 172 412
Chief Financial Officer and
Executive General Manager
Commercial & Strategy
Ceased: 14 October 2016

Blank
N King*** - - - - - - -

Executive General Manager
Citytrain
Appointment date: 19 June
2017
Appointment term: 6 months
Expiry date: 18 December 2017

Blank
T Ripper** 390 63 4 52 14 - 523

Executive General Manager
Network
Appointment date: 1 July 2014

Blank
S Rodgers** 95 31 1 8 - - 135

Acting Executive General
Manager Human Resources
(from 18 July 2016 until 4
November 2016)

Blank
M Ryan** 184 - 4 19 - - 207

Executive General Manager
Travel and Tourism
Appointment date: 26 June
2017
Acting Chief Operating Officer
(from 3 January 2017 until 25
June 2017)

Blank
K Wright** 343 74 3 28 104 - 552

Chief Operating Officer
Ceased: 28 January 2017

Blank
Total 3,351 260 28 340 231 172 4,382

* These specified executives do not participate in the bonus scheme as per their employment contracts.
** These specified executives are tenured and have no expiry date.
*** This specified executive did not receive monetary benefits directly. Payments will be made to the entity in

which he is permanently employed.
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2016
Short-term benefits Post-

employment
benefits

Long-
term

benefits

Specified executives

Cash
salary

and fees
Cash

bonuses

Non-
monetary
benefits

Super-
annuation

Long
service
leave

Term-
ination
benefits Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Blank

H Gluer 666 - 6 63 - - 735
Chief Executive Officer

Blank
N Duce 302 48 6 38 - - 394

Executive General Manager
Human Resources

Blank
D Farrelly 353 - - 38 - - 391

General Counsel and Executive
General Manager Governance

Blank
L Gordon 376 56 6 48 - - 486

Executive General Manager
Projects

Blank
M Hope 359 44 6 34 - - 443

Chief Financial Officer and
Executive General Manager
Commercial & Strategy

Blank
T Ripper 341 61 6 49 43 - 500

Executive General Manager
Network

Blank
K Wright 507 77 7 46 - - 637

Chief Operating Officer
Blank

The appointment authority for all specified executives is section 35 of the Queensland Rail Transit Authority Act
2013, with the exception of the Chief Executive Officer who is appointed under section 29. The responsibilities for
each specified executive position are detailed in the Annual Report.

These amounts are not in addition to the amounts disclosed in the Key Management Personnel note of the
Queensland Rail Limited financial statements as they were recharged by the entity in accordance with the
Managed Services Agreement.

The above are the key executives representing the consolidated entity. These executives provide advice in
relation to strategy and future direction of the consolidated entity under the business model adopted. On Track
Insurance Pty Ltd does not have any senior executives who are involved in setting strategy or future direction for
the entity and no On Track Insurance Pty Ltd executives are disclosed above for this reason.

Termination of the employment of an executive can be made by Queensland Rail to the specified executive either
with notice, without notice or due to the incapacity of the specified executive. The formal policy concerning the
termination of employment of Queensland Rail chief and senior executives is the Policy for Government Owned
Corporation Chief and Senior Executive Employment Arrangements v 2.0. This policy was issued by the
Government in the 2013/14 period and is applicable to arrangements issued from this period.
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18 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)
Chief Executive provisions

The employment of the Chief Executive may be terminated by the Board at any time in accordance with section
30(3) of the Queensland Rail Transit Authority Act 2013.

The employment of the Chief Executive may also be terminated by either party at any time giving the other party
3 months written notice of termination. When such termination occurs, the Chief Executive is entitled to the
following:
• any accrued leave; and
• salary for the balance of the notice period (if Queensland Rail elects to make payment in lieu of the notice

period).

No other termination or compensation payments are payable to the Chief Executive.

The employment of the Chief Executive may be terminated by Queensland Rail immediately, and without
compensation, if the Chief Executive engages in misconduct or other unethical behaviour.

Senior Executive provisions

Under the Policy for Government Owned Corporation Chief and Senior Executive Employment Arrangements v
2.0, all new appointments to senior executives are on an ongoing (tenured) basis with no specific end date.
Termination by notice can be made by the specified executive or Queensland Rail at any time by either party
giving to the other 1 month written notice. When such termination occurs, specified executives that are tenured
are entitled to the following:
• any accrued leave;
• salary for the balance of the notice period (if Queensland Rail elects to make payment in lieu of the notice

period); and
• if the termination is by Queensland Rail in circumstances other than serious misconduct, a termination

payment of 3 months salary.

The Queensland Rail Board has also implemented the Performance Payment Policy - Chief and Senior Executive
which reflects the expectations of the Queensland State Government as outlined in the stated policy.

The Performance Payment Policy - Chief and Senior Executive provides for a performance pay process that is
administered on a 12 month (financial year) cycle and aligns the executives with Queensland Rail enterprise wide
and Individual Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). A maximum payment of 15% per annum of an eligible Chief or
Senior Executive’s total fixed remuneration on the achievement of stretch targets is available. The Performance
Payment framework consists of the following key aspects:
• Board and Chief Executive Officer discretion is reserved in the payment against the scheme based on

consideration of performance and shareholder expectations; and
• enterprise KPIs for On Time Running (OTR), Earnings Before Interest & Tax (EBIT) and overall Safety

Performance (WH&S and Rail Safety), must be achieved before Performance Payments are considered by
the Board.

The Individual KPIs are set by the Chief Executive Officer on the recommendation of the relevant executive
member. Individual KPIs are reflective of Queensland Rail wide and Functional KPIs for which the executive has
direct accountability and / or reflective of strategic business plans, budgets and capital / infrastructure projects.
Eligible executives must also meet minimum expectations for the consistent demonstration of the Queensland
Rail Values and Behaviours.

The Chief and Senior Executives participate in the Queensland Rail performance management process with
quarterly and annual performance reviews. Annual performance results of the Executives are assessed and
calibrated by the Chief Executive Officer and Executive General Manager Human Resources. The Board is
responsible for the assessment of the Chief Executive Officer’s performance. The Queensland Rail Board
approves the calculation and payment of the Chief and Senior Executive Performance Payments and provides
written advice to the responsible Ministers in accordance with the Government Arrangements.
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2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Aggregate performance bonus compensation

Aggregate performance bonus compensation paid 7,181 7,782

Aggregate performance bonus compensation accrued for current period - 7,578

Aggregate compensation (including performance bonus compensation) to
employees eligible for performance bonus compensation 81,111 78,783

2017 2016

Number of employees eligible for performance bonus compensation 423 408

The following categories of employees are eligible for performance based, at risk, incentive bonus compensation:
• specified executives;
• other executives;
• salaried employees; and
• specified award employees.

Performance bonus compensation paid to specified executives is granted upon approval by the Queensland Rail
Board. Performance bonus compensation paid to other employees is granted upon approval by the Chief
Executive Officer or in accordance with a subsidiary agreement. The amount of the compensation is determined
by performance against key performance indicators set at the start of the year for employees or conditions of a
subsidiary agreement for work units.

(d) Transactions with key management personnel

During the current reporting period, S Cantwell, member of Queensland Rail and director of Queensland Rail
Limited from 1 October 2016, was a director of Port of Brisbane Pty Ltd. Queensland Rail Limited paid for a land
lease to this organisation during this period.

During the current reporting period, H Gluer, specified executive of Queensland Rail and Queensland Rail
Limited until 27 October 2016, was a director of Queensland Music Festival. Queensland Rail Limited paid a
sponsorship to this organisation during this period.

During the current and prior reporting periods, K Wright, specified executive of Queensland Rail and Queensland
Rail Limited until 28 January 2017, was a board member of Australasian Railway Association and a board
member of TrackSAFE Foundation, until his resignation from both boards on 28 January 2017. Queensland Rail
Limited paid contributions to TrackSAFE Foundation during the current and prior reporting periods and paid
corporate memberships to Australian Railway Association during the prior reporting period.

During the prior reporting period, P Wallis, member of Queensland Rail and director of Queensland Rail Limited,
was a principal of the global consulting firm Arup Pty Ltd that provided consultancy services to Queensland Rail
Limited. Mr Wallis finalised his position as director with Arup Pty Ltd on 30 June 2016.

During the prior reporting period, D George, member of Queensland Rail and director of Queensland Rail Limited
until 30 September 2015, was a board member of Rail Industry Safety and Standards Board. Queensland Rail
Limited paid corporate memberships to this organisation during this period.

During the current and prior reporting periods, M Klug, chair of Queensland Rail and Queensland Rail Limited
until 27 October 2016, was a consultant at Clayton Utz. Queensland Rail Limited engaged Clayton Utz during this
period for legal advice however these payments are not related party transactions.

35



Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

18 Key management personnel disclosures (continued)
All figures displayed below are exclusive of GST.

Consolidated
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Land lease - Port of Brisbane 51 -
Sponsorship - Queensland Music Festival 15 -
Contribution - TrackSAFE Foundation 3 60
Corporate membership - Australasian Railway Association - 58
Consultancy fees - Arup Pty Ltd - 1,963
Corporate membership - Rail Industry Safety and Standards Board - 298

69 2,379

19 Related party transactions
The consolidated entity does not have any related party transactions or loans to disclose as these transactions
and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

(a) Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Sale of goods and services to subsidiaries 811,778 749,426
Dividend revenue from subsidiaries 100,758 165,433
Blank
Dividend receivable from subsidiaries 100,758 165,433
Receivables from subsidiaries - current 252,077 267,161
Receivables from subsidiaries - non-current 27,754 27,510
Blank
Shares in subsidiaries 2,845,324 2,845,324
Blank

(b) Loans to / (from) related parties

Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Loans to / (from) subsidiaries
Beginning of the year 16,108 47,048
Loans advanced 32,386 80,890
Loans repayments received (91,935) (111,830)
End of year (43,441) 16,108
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19 Related party transactions (continued)
(c) Transactions and outstanding balances with State of Queensland controlled entities

The entity is a statutory body and is owned by the Queensland State Government.

The consolidated entity transacted with other State of Queensland controlled entities during the year as set out
below:

Consolidated Parent
Notes 2017

$'000
2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Nature of transaction

Revenue from continuing
operations

1 1,629,866 1,619,362 - - Rail Transport Service
Contract, government
concessions and sales

Supplies and services 2 12,509 53,930 - - Consumables

Employee benefits
expense

3 35,320 33,124 35,294 33,107 Payroll tax

Other expenses 3,150 3,883 - - Land tax and audit fees

Finance income 1,515 6,229 - - Interest revenue

Finance expenses 190,874 207,065 - - Interest and financing
costs

Income tax expense 4 42,069 70,836 - - Income tax

Cash and cash
equivalents

- 114,192 - - Short-term investments

Trade and other
receivables

8,738 6,734 - - Rail Transport Service
Contract and other
accounts receivables

Current tax assets 45,970 - 45,970 - Current tax receivable

Trade and other payables 7 136,008 245,698 100,515 182,196 Interest payable, capital
works payable, payroll tax
payable and dividend
payable

Current borrowings 12 46,725 - - - Short-term borrowings

Current tax liabilities - 14,105 - 14,105 Current tax payable

Other current liabilities 1,006 1,300 - - Asset funding and other
income in advance

Non-current borrowings 12 3,250,000 3,000,000 - - Long-term borrowings

Other non-current
liabilities

10,626 10,830 - - Asset funding in advance

Dividend declared 10 100,515 182,196 100,515 182,196 Dividend declared

37



Queensland Rail
Notes to the financial statements

30 June 2017
(continued)

20 Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries of Queensland Rail
as at reporting date and the results of the subsidiaries for the year then ended.

Name of entity
Country of

incorporation Class of shares Equity holding
2017

%
2016

%

Queensland Rail Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
On Track Insurance Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

The principal activities of Queensland Rail Limited are to carry out the key objectives of its parent, Queensland
Rail, in accordance with the Queensland Rail Transit Authority Act 2013. Queensland Rail Limited retains title of
all non-employee related assets, liabilities and contracts. The management of its assets are effected through the
provision of employee services from Queensland Rail under a Managed Services Agreement.

The principal activities of On Track Insurance Pty Ltd are the provision of insurance coverage for all claims
relating to events for both former parent, Aurizon Operations Limited (formerly QR National Limited) and
Queensland Rail Limited up until 30 June 2010.

The Auditor-General of Queensland is the auditor of Queensland Rail Limited and On Track Insurance Pty Ltd.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between consolidated entity
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the
impairment of the asset transferred.

Non-current inter-company loans may not be demanded by the other entity and do not become payable other
than through settlement of obligations associated with the loans or one of the entities exits the wholly-owned
consolidated entity.

The Managed Services Agreement between Queensland Rail and its subsidiary, Queensland Rail Limited,
permits all inter-company balances between both entities to be legally offset and settled on a net basis at the end
of each reporting period.

Accounting policies have been adopted consistently across the consolidated entity.

Investment in the subsidiary is accounted for at cost in the financial records of the parent entity.

21 Remuneration of auditors
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the consolidated
entity:

Consolidated Parent
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Audit and review of financial reports 465 472 50 65
465 472 50 65
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22 Special payments
Consolidated Parent

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Ex-gratia payments 2,376 10,982 2,376 10,982
2,376 10,982 2,376 10,982

Special payments include ex-gratia expenditure and other expenditure that the consolidated entity is not
contractually or legally obligated to make to other parties. The total of all special payments is disclosed within
other expenses.

Special payments greater than $5,000 include:
• A pay rate increase paid to Queensland Rail employees covered by the State Certified Queensland Rail

Traincrew Certified Agreement 2013 which was determined to be invalid by the High Court on 8 April 2015.
Queensland Rail has elected to honour the terms, including pay rate increases, specified in the State
Certified Traincrew Certified Agreement, pending negotiation of a new enterprise agreement under the Fair
Work Act 2009 (Cth) to replace the federal enterprise agreement that was applicable to relevant employees
immediately prior to 3 May 2013. Pay rate increases for these employees from 8 April 2015 to 31 August
2016 meet the definition of a special payment. Refer to note 3(a) for further information in relation to the
outcome of the High Court proceedings.

• Ex-gratia payments made to employees as deeds of settlement subsequent to dismissal in the current and
prior reporting periods.

• Ex-gratia payments made to employees in the form of medical separations which are not required under their
respective employment agreements in the current and prior reporting periods.

• Ex-gratia payments made to employees as compensation for rostering amendments in the current and prior
reporting periods.

• Ex-gratia payments made in the form of Employment Termination Payments on behalf of a deceased
employee in the current reporting period.

23 Queensland Rail Limited consolidated financial information
The Queensland Rail Limited consolidated entity, comprising Queensland Rail Limited and its subsidiary, On
Track Insurance Pty Ltd, is wholly owned by Queensland Rail.

Queensland Rail is required to provide the annual report, which includes the Queensland Rail financial
statements, to responsible Ministers for tabling in Parliament. This is in accordance with section 62 of the
Financial Accountability Act 2009.

The financial statements of Queensland Rail Limited are not required to be included in the Queensland Rail
annual report.

The financial results of the Queensland Rail Limited consolidated entity are significant and represent a
substantial portion of the Queensland Rail consolidated entity’s results. This note is disclosed to provide users of
these financial statements more clarity concerning the financial results of the Queensland Rail consolidated
entity.
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23 Queensland Rail Limited consolidated financial information (continued)
A summarised version of the Queensland Rail Limited consolidated financial statements are disclosed below:

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Revenue 1,881,192 1,920,666
Expenses (1,556,430) (1,493,779)
Operating profit 324,762 426,887

Net finance costs (182,178) (190,725)
Profit before income tax 142,584 236,162

Income tax expense (42,069) (70,836)

Profit for the year 100,515 165,326

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (20) (144)

Total comprehensive income for the year 100,495 165,182

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Consolidated balance sheet

Current assets 140,494 255,531
Non-current assets 6,915,402 6,619,884
Total assets 7,055,896 6,875,415

Current liabilities 577,327 640,911
Non-current liabilities 3,732,513 3,488,185
Total liabilities 4,309,840 4,129,096

Net assets 2,746,056 2,746,319

Total equity 2,746,056 2,746,319
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23 Queensland Rail Limited consolidated financial information (continued)
2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2,746,319 2,746,570

Total comprehensive income for the year 100,495 165,182
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners (100,758) (165,433)

Balance at end of year 2,746,056 2,746,319

2017
$'000

2016
$'000

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities 529,241 596,954
Cash flows from investing activities (776,286) (590,568)
Cash flows from financing activities 131,292 (222,872)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (115,753) (216,486)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 117,776 334,262

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,023 117,776

Policies

24 Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of Queensland Rail and its subsidiaries,
Queensland Rail Limited and On Track Insurance Pty Ltd.

Queensland Rail is a for-profit statutory body domiciled in Australia and owned by the Queensland State
Government. Queensland Rail is required to carry out its functions as a commercial enterprise, as specified in
section 10 of the Queensland Rail Transit Authority Act 2013. These financial statements are denominated in
Australian dollars.

Queensland Rail is referred to in this financial report as the "entity" or the "parent". Queensland Rail together with
its subsidiaries, Queensland Rail Limited and On Track Insurance Pty Ltd, are collectively referred to as the
"consolidated entity".

Queensland Rail's purpose is to provide a safe, reliable, on-time, value for money and customer focused rail
service that benefits the community, supports industry and is integrated with the public transport system.
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24 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
To achieve this, Queensland Rail has commenced the implementation of the Response and Recovery Program.
This transformation program is being delivered in three phases:
• Stabilise - restore Citytrain services to a sustainable level and regain customer and stakeholder confidence;
• Recover - deliver organisational recovery with a focus on operations and governance; and
• Transform - drive cultural changes with Queensland Rail and deliver a more integrated public transport

structure for Queensland.

The principal activities of the consolidated entity consists of:
(a) South East Queensland above and below rail services;
(b) Traveltrain and tourism services throughout Queensland; and
(c) Network access services throughout Queensland.

These financial statements were approved for issue by the members on 28 August 2017.

(a) Basis of preparation

(i) Statement of compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance
with:
• applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB);
• the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009;
• Queensland Treasury and Trade’s Financial Reporting Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies

to the extent relevant; and
• other authoritative pronouncements.

(ii) New and amended standards adopted by the consolidated entity

The new standards and amendments to standards, that are mandatory for the first time for the financial year
beginning on 1 July 2016, do not have a material impact on the financial statements of the consolidated entity.

The consolidated entity was directed to early adopt AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 (AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 134, AASB 1049) from
the 2015/16 annual reporting period. The application of this standard allowed flexibility in the presentation and
location of note disclosures and significant accounting policies within the financial statements.

(iii) Early adoption of standards

The application of the remaining standards and amendments that are available for early adoption for the current
financial year beginning 1 July 2016 were not early adopted and are not expected to have a material impact on
the accounts of the consolidated entity in future periods.

AASB 15 Revenue

AASB 15 Revenue is applicable to all annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. AASB 15
requires revenue recognition to reflect the transfer of promised goods or services to a customer in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Management have assessed the impact of AASB 15 and concluded that there will be no material impact on the
consolidated entity from the date of application as the current practice of recognising revenue is consistent with
the requirements of this standard.

AASB 16 Leases

AASB 16 Leases is applicable to all annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. AASB 16
introduces on balance sheet lessee accounting requiring a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases
with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognise
a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its
obligations to make lease payments.
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24 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
The right-of-use asset and the lease liability will be measured at the present value of future lease payments. The
asset will be depreciated over the life of the lease. The finance charge associated with the lease liability and the
depreciation will be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. The lease payments will reduce the
lease liability and will no longer be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. This will result in some
volatility in the financial statements.

Management have assessed the impact of AASB 16 on existing lease contracts and conclude that the impact of
recognising operating leases in the balance sheet will not have a material impact on the consolidated entity from
the date of application.

Accounting for leases as a lessor has not been amended.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective that are expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated entity in future reporting periods.

(iv) Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain assets
which, as stated, are at fair value.

(v) Going Concern

The financial report for the consolidated entity is prepared on a going concern basis. Current liabilities exceed
current assets by $381.6 million. The consolidated entity has access to short-term borrowing facilities up to the
amount of $150.0 million of which $103.3 million are undrawn as at reporting date (refer note 12(c)). The
consolidated entity has also secured approval from the Queensland Government to source additional long-term
borrowings in the 2017/18 financial year up to the amount of $201.7 million to fund operational, capital and
dividend payments throughout that year. In addition revenue through the Rail Transport Service Contract,
adequate interest coverage and a low gearing ratio provides further assurance of the consolidated entity's status
as a going concern.

The parent is a going concern as all costs incurred in providing employees to its subsidiary, Queensland Rail
Limited, is recharged by the parent under a Managed Services Agreement with Queensland Rail Limited. All
transactions for operating activities of the parent are undertaken through the Queensland Rail Limited banking
facilities.

(b) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the consolidated entity's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (i.e. the functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the consolidated entity's functional
and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of these transactions and from
the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in profit or loss, except when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and
qualifying net investment hedges.

(c) Rounding of amounts / Comparative restatements

Amounts included in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless
disclosure of the full amount is specifically required.

Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the current
reporting period.
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24 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Trade receivables and trade payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of
investing or financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flow.

Queensland Rail and its subsidiaries are grouped for GST purposes. This means that any inter-company
transactions within the Queensland Rail consolidated entity do not attract GST. Queensland Rail is the
representative member of the GST group and is responsible for reporting all GST liabilities and credits on behalf
of the consolidated entity.

(e) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are initially recorded at fair value less any allowance for uncollectible amounts. Trade
receivables generally have credit terms ranging from 7 to 31 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are
written off. An allowance for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that
the consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the debt.

(f) Investments and other financial assets

The consolidated entity classifies its non-derivative financial assets based on the purpose for which the
investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition. At
reporting date, the consolidated entity has only one type of non-derivative financial asset: loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12
months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in
current trade and other receivables and non-current receivables in the balance sheet.

(g) Intangible assets

(i) IT development and software

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will
contribute to future period financial benefits are capitalised to software and systems.

Intangibles have a threshold of $50,000. If intangibles are under $50,000, expenditure is not capitalised and is
treated as an operating expense in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

(h) Contributed equity

Equity injections and distributions of equity are treated as a change in the value of contributed equity.

(i) Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the consolidated
entity as lessee are classified as operating leases (note 16). Operating lease rental (net of any incentive received
from the lessor) is expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is charged to the statement of
comprehensive income.
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24 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Queensland Rail Limited entered into a commercial lease with the State of Queensland, acting through the
Department of Transport and Main Roads (DTMR), to access the Moreton Bay Rail Link (MBRL) and provide
Citytrain and City Network Services in respect of the MBRL. All assets forming the MBRL are owned by the State
of Queensland and are leased to Queensland Rail Limited at no cost. The lease contract expires on 30 June
2018 and may be extended by DTMR. Queensland Rail commenced providing Citytrain and City Network
services on the MBRL during the current reporting period. The MBRL lease is classified as an operating lease
and no assets or liabilities have been recognised by Queensland Rail Limited in the current reporting period.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the consolidated entity, as lessee, assumes substantially all the
risks and benefits of ownership are classified as finance leases. The consolidated entity did not have any finance
leases at reporting date.

Expected rental revenue from operating leases where the consolidated entity is a lessor is recognised as income
on a straight-line basis over the lease term (note 16).

(j) Insurance

The consolidated entity insures against risks which are largely uncontrollable, have significant or catastrophic
consequences for assets and / or revenue and the aggregate costs of which would exceed the limit of exposure
the organisation is prepared to accept.

Insurance cover has accordingly been effected for a variety of such risks. Other areas of risk exposure are
self-insured, including workers' compensation.

Until 30 June 2010, self-insurance and other underwriting activities were performed by Queensland Rail's
wholly-owned subsidiary, On Track Insurance Pty Ltd. On Track Insurance Pty Ltd was transferred from Aurizon
Operations Limited (formerly QR National Limited) on 6 October 2010 and will continue to provide cover for
claims relating to events up until 30 June 2010 for both Queensland Rail and the Aurizon Operations Limited
group.

(k) Environmental regulation

The consolidated entity is subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the jurisdiction in which it operates or
maintains land. Where remediation measures are probable and can be reliably measured, such costs incurred in
complying with relevant laws and regulations are accounted for in accordance with the policy in note 8.
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These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the Financial
Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), section 43 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 and
other prescribed requirements. In accordance with section 62(1)(b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion:

(a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all
material aspects; and

(b) the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with
prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of Queensland Rail and its controlled entities for the
financial year ended 30 June 2017 and of the financial position of the consolidated entity at the end of that
year; and

(c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management processes
being effective, in all material respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period.

N Easy
Chief Executive Officer

Brisbane, Qld
28 August 2017

P Strachan
Chair

Brisbane, Qld
28 August 2017
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To the Board of Queensland Rail

Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Queensland Rail (the parent) and its controlled entities (the
group).

In my opinion, the financial report:
(a) gives a true and fair view of the parent's and group's financial position as at 30 June 2017, and their financial

performance and cash flows for the year then ended
(b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance Management Standard

2009 and Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial report comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2017, the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash
flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including summaries of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information, and the management certificate.

Basis for opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.

I am independent of the parent and group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code)
that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code and the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in my audit of
the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of my audit of the
Queensland Rail’s financial report as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Depreciation expense ($363.926 million)
Refer to note 5 and 5(d) in the financial report

Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter

My procedures included but were not limited to:
Depreciation expense is a significant
balance that requires management to

• Assessing the useful life estimates of assets and their component
parts by:

forecast the useful life of assets and
their component parts.

- Reviewing management’s annual assessment of useful lives and
condition assessments. This represents a comprehensive review
of all QR assets.

- For a sample of remaining useful life reviews examining
supporting documentation and confirmed revised estimates to
the fixed asset register.

- Checking the consistency of useful lives compared to the prior
year.

- Comparing useful life assessments recorded in the fixed asset
register to the disclosed accounting policy.

- Reviewing for evidence of asset obsolescence, failure or
disposals that could indicate a need to review useful life
assumptions.
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Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter

- Reviewing for evidence that the entity will use assets for longer
than the useful lives estimated for valuation and depreciation
purposes.

- For a sample of assets, recalculating depreciation expense.
- Evaluating remaining useful life estimates for reasonableness

with reference to management’s documented assessments,
historical disposal rates, condition assessments for older assets,
and long-term asset management plans and budgets.

Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment ($6,803.210 million)
Refer to note 5 in the financial report

Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter

My procedures included but were not limited to:
The reported value of property, plant
and equipment represents more than

• Testing the design and implementation and operating effectiveness of
the key controls over asset addition processes.

96 per cent of total value of reported • Evidencing of review of project cost reports by project managers.
assets in the balance sheet. The cost
method of valuation is used and the

• Reviewing the completion and certification by responsible officers for
operating expense and assets under construction transfer form.

following risk factors have been
considered during the audit:

• Testing a sample of assessment and classification of project costs as
operating expense or capital at project commencement.

• Increased costs transferred from
• Testing monitoring controls to ensure timely transfer of costs to the

fixed asset register.
assets under construction in 2017
$529.2 million (2016 $447.1

• Reviewing the appropriateness of the accounting treatment for a
sample of new, ongoing and completed projects.

million) to the fixed asset register
following project completion.

• Testing a sample of asset under construction costs for multi-year
projects to determine whether these costs continue to meet the

• Increased assets under
criteria for an asset recognition under the QR’s capitalisation policies
and Australian Accounting Standards.

construction costs in 2017 $636.4
million (2016 $516.9 million) that
may not be correctly classified
between operating expense and
capital.

Blank
• Increased estimated project costs

accrued as assets under
construction in 2017 $193.4
million (2016 $168.2 million). The
calculation of accruals involves a
high degree of management
estimation.

Indicators of Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Refer to note 5 (e) of the financial report

Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter

My procedures included but were not limited to:
Management had considered the
existence of impairment indicators

• Assessing the adequacy of management’s review of the impairment
process.

during 2016-17 and performed an
impairment test to ensure that the
assets carrying value was greater than
its value in use.

• Obtaining an understanding of the methodology used and assessing
its design, integrity and appropriateness for the impairment test with
reference to common industry practice.
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Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter

• Evaluating the independence, competency, capability and objectivity
The impairment assessment is
complex and management adopts

of the expert who reviewed the value in use assumptions applied by
management in the impairment model.

assumptions in developing inputs used
in the discounted cashflow models to

• Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions based on my
knowledge of the entity and industry.

calculate an asset’s value in use. • Assessing the completeness of the review as scoped by the expert
including an assessment of the identification of cash generating
units, and input assumptions adopted by management in the value
in use model.

• Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s documented
considerations of indicators of impairment against my knowledge of
the entity.

• Reviewing the accuracy of calculations used in the value in use
model.

• Reviewing the impairment model to assess the models used and the
reasonableness of key assumptions applied in the assessment
against my knowledge of the entity and industry.

• Reviewing the asset impairment accounting policies disclosures in
the financial statements for consistency with Australian Accounting
Standards.

Other information

Other information comprises the information included in the group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June
2017, but does not include the financial report and my auditor’s report thereon.

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or my knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the company for the financial report

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance
with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 and
Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Board is also responsible for assessing the parent's and group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless it is intended to abolish the parent or group or to otherwise cease operations.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the parent's and
group's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the group.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the parent's and group's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the parent's or group's ability to continue as a going concern. If I
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base
my conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the parent or group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion on the financial report. I am responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the audit of the group. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

From the matters communicated with the Board, I determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. I describe these matters
in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2017:
(a) I received all the information and explanations I required.
(b) In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping of accounts were

complied with in all material respects.

D Adams Queensland Audit Office
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane

50




